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rop of a leaner, stronger operating base.
A. Leigh Powell




' AWWR Y )

Letter to Shareholders

2003: Building the Future of Enterprise Contract Management

Reflecting back on 2003, the theme of this year’s annual report, “Building the Future of Enterprise
Contract Management,” became readily apparent. As many software and technology providers
responded to challenging economic conditions by scaling back critical investments in research and
development, a primary driver of future revenue, I-many essentially maintained its level of investment
inR&D. In fact, I-many received the top ranking among ‘pure play’ enterprise contract management
solutions providers in Software Magazine's 2003 Software 500 list of the world’s largest software and
services companies. The company was also ranked sixth in research and development spending as a
percentage of corporate revenue among all Medium-Sized companies. This commitment stands in stark
contrast to the industry norm and demonstrates the depth of our belief in the potential of enterprise
contract management and the demand for comprehensive solutions that deliver increasing value to the
market and our customers.

To further illustrate and support our research and development investment in 2003, we armounced: The formation of a world
class product management team consisting of senior software veterans from other industry-leading enterprise software companies;
the development of a new Enterprise Contract Management Foundation, a platform-independent technology that significantly
reduces product implementation time, cost and complexity; the filing of a patent application for an Extensible Style Sheet
Language Transformations (XSLT) processor that is believed to be one of the fastest contract management processors ever
developed; and the leasing and staffing of a 10,400 square foot I-many Product Development Center and R&D Lab located at 255
Shoreline Drive in Redwood Shores, California. These investments have already begun to generate returns with significant new
customer wins in our Health & Life Sciences business, which now counts 22 of the top 25 pharmaceutical companies in the world
as customers, and in other key markets including foodservice, retail, aerospace, financial services and manufacturing.

2004: Reaping the Rewards of Enterprise Contract Management Leadership

I-many is leading the development of an emerging market that is gaining traction with corporations across industries. Our
first-mover advantage has put us far ahead of the enterprise contract management development curve, and we are committed to
extending this lead with greater breadth of product, functionality, ease of use and service. 2004 will be a year in which we focus
on leveraging our significant research and development investment to new verticals against the backdrop of a leaner, stronger
operating base.

As part of our 2004 Strategic Plan, I-many will launch an aggressive product introduction campaign that builds on a focused
two-plus-year next generation research and development investment and 14 years of experience as an Enterprise Contract
Management pioneer. Elements of this plan include: The release of our next generation enterprise platform, ECMF 3.0, an
enhanced backbone supporting a wider variety of modular products; the managed adoption and/or migration of existing and
new customers onto ECMF 3.0; the extension of core product capabilities via the ECMF 3.0 platform to mirror industry specific
needs and requirements; the launch of industry-agnostic modular products to create a new suite designed to expand the breadth
and functionality of I-many ContractSphere®; the introduction of an on-line environment offering I-many ECM capabilities on a
“pay as you go” basis for small to mid-sized companies and segments of large companies; and the seeding of new customers and
new verticals with strong reference accounts.

I-many is very excited about the opportunities for growth that lie ahead and our ability to leverage our leadership and investments
to drive value for our customers, employees and shareholders. We have a compelling story, significant market opportunity and a
cost structure very much in line with our goal of sustained profitability. The time is now for Enterprise Contract Management
and Ilook forward to reporting on our progress throughout 2004.

Sincerely,

A. Leigh Powell
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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A Quick %Look At I-many

Every day, companies collect revenue and
pay expenses that their information systems
are incapable of matching against the prices,
terms and conditions stipulated in their
contracts. This missing link costs companies
vast sums of money and exposes them to
unnecessary risk.

I-many is the leading provider of enterprise
contract management solutions. Our solutions
help companies make, manage and maximize
contracts throughout the contract management
lifecycle. More than 270 life science, consumer
goods, foodservice, distribution services and
manufacturing companies use our solutions.

The I-many Enterprise Contract
Management Value Proposition

Increase Revenues and Reduce Expenses
I-many solutions increase revenues and
reduce expenses by ensuring receipt of
proper payment for “sell side” agreements
and disbursement of appropriate payments
for “buy side” agreements according to
agreed contract pricing variables. This
prevents the loss of renewal revenue from
overlooked contract expiration dates and
shortens the "quote-to-cash” cycle.

Reduce Exposure

The ability to enforce standard or pre-
approved language across all contracts

in all enterprise areas is a key element of
the I-many solution. Effective enterprise
contract management reduces exposure to
surprise liabilities, missed opportunities
and revenue leakage.

Ensure Compliance

[-many’s contract compliance monitors

and tracks transactions with terms and
conditions defined by contracts. Accuracy

in contractual execution avoids disputes,
reduces costs associated with resolution and
encourages long-term satisfaction with
trading partners. It also assists management
in providing the internal controls necessary to
ensure accurate financial statements.

Track Performance

I-many turns contracts into diagnostic tools
for ensuring the ongoing profitability of
successful agreements. Armed with this
information, companies can correct or
terminate sub-optimal contracts and trading
partner relationships.

Manage Risk

I-many solutions provide global visibility
into contractual terms governing trade
relationships, exposing potential contract
inconsistencies among divisions and
departments.

Representative Contract Types

e Advertising /PR Agreements

* Agency Agreements

¢ Asset Purchase Agreements

*» Broker Agreements

¢ Commercial Lease Agreements

¢ Confidentiality Agreements

* Contract Sales/Research Agreements
* Co-promotion Agreements

* Distribution Agreements

* Intellectual Property License

* Joint Marketing Agreements

¢ Joint Venture Agreements

* Leasing Agreements

* Loan Agreements

* Material Transfer Agreements |
* Merger Agreements

* Outsourcing Services Agreements

* Powers of Attorney

i ® Research Agreements
* Security Agreements
| e Strategic Consulting Agreements ;
- * Supplier Agreements

J * Value-Added Reseller Agreements

i
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Financial Highlights

Fiscal Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2001 2002 2003
Net Revenues 857,767 $54,746 $39,412
Product Revenues $30,011 $30,811 $14,287
Gross Margin % 70% 74% 60%
Net Loss $(21,207)  $(27,293)  $(39,491)
Net Loss Per Share $(0.60) $(0.69) $(0.98)
Cash and Cash Equivalents $36,015 $35,979 $21,864
Short-Term Investments $ - $ - $2,019
Restricted Cash $ - $1,120 $1,248
Working Capital $34,457 $32,462 $20,269
Total Assets $91,138 $84,564 $49,569

Continued Improvement in New Market Penetration ¢ New clients in varied industries
7

40 including pharmaceutical, aerospace,
35 L . . .
0 foodservice, financial services, retail
25 and manufacturing.
20
13 * Continued investment in research
5 and development, representing 26.5%
0 of operating expenses.
() 2001 2002 2003

New Market Product Revenue vs Health & Life Sciences Product Revenue . . o
* Gross margins remain strong at 60%.

Strong R&D Continues to Expand * Operating cost improvement of 6.8%
I-many’s Leadership in Enterprise Contract Management over Year 2002.

30

29

28 ¢ Solid total cash and short-term investment

;g position (not including restricted cash) of

25 $23.9 million.

24

23

22

21

2
(%) 2001 2002 2003

Research & Development as a Percentage of Operating Expenses




and [—many was the only company wtth a pmven
rebate management solution that can help
validate rebates against the contracts that
govern them. We believe I-many CARS/RM

will help dramatically reduce our
rebate management processing
time in a very short period of
time and provide a significant
return on investment.
Linda Michaud
Vice President
Information and Technology
RONA
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I-many !ContractSphere'

Enterprise Contract Management Suite

Every day, companies collect revenue
and pay expenses that their information
systems are probably incapable of
matching against the prices, terms and
conditions stipulated in their contracts.
The missing link is effective enterprise
contract management and it’s costing
companies vast sums of money on both
the revenue and expense side and
exposing them to unnecessary financial
and legal risk.

I-many ContractSphere® enables
companies to:

e Automate contract creation, revision/
approvals, and amendments

* Increase revenues and reduce expenses
by ensuring receipt of proper payment
according to contract pricing variables

¢ Reduce exposure to surprise liabilities,
missed opportunities and revenue leakage

¢ Ensure compliance by monitoring and
tracking transactions against contractually
defined terms and conditions

¢ Track performance with diagnostic tools
specifically designed for ensuring the
ongoing profitability of successful
agreements

* Manage risk by providing global visibility
into contractual terms governing trade
relationships and exposing potential
contract inconsistencies among divisions
and departments

I-many Contract Manager™

The industry leading contract content
management solution. Centralizes contract
content and terms in an enterprise class
repository for instantaneous search and

view capabilities. Also provides the ability
to create contracts from existing templates
and clauses, with collaborative, best-in-class

workflow and an auditable approval process.

I-many Compliance Manager™

Enables companies to compare actual
transaction results against the terms and
conditions of a contract to determine if the
transaction conducted was in compliance
with the original intent of the contract. It
also reduces “maverick” procurement and
sales orders by ensuring transactions are
tied back to the contract.

I-many Incentives™

Provides the tools needed to monitor
product pricing, manage agreement
incentives and track end-user and prime
vendor relationships as well as forecast
and report on all aspects of contract
management and administration.

I-many Deductions Manager™

Works in real time with ERP and other
essential back-office systems to increase
deduction collections by automating and
streamlining customer communications
and follow-up. The system speeds
resolution through the use of automated,
user-defined action steps and provides
detailed deduction reporting and
deduction tracking history.

I-many Collections Manager™

Improves cash flow and reduces days
sales outstanding (DSO) by streamlining
and automating collections processes. The
solution is web-based and optimized for
global organizations that can benefit from
user-defined workflows.




After an exhaustive review of the available solutions, SICOR selected

I-many based upon its deep breadth of functionality and domain
expertise. I-many is the clear choice because they are the only
vendor that provides a comprehensive, integrated and proven

suite to manage all of our contracting requirements

Boyd Marshall
Director of Information Systems
SICOR
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I-many Health and Life Sciences

Price Management Suite

The life sciences industry is at the center of a
raging debate about the equity and efficiency
of differential pharmaceutical pricing. The
challenge is to reduce exposure to government
pricing risks while also profitably growing
business. The I-many Health & Life Sciences
Price Management Suite manages all aspects
of commercial and government contracts and
pricing, and most importantly, the interaction
between the two.

The I-many Health & Life Sciences
Price Management Suite enables companies to:

¢ Create and manage an over-arching pricing
strategy framework and contract development
process across the entire organization

¢ Access pricing information updates, risks, and
violations, by account type, product and
program in real-time

* Proactively plan, create and execute optimal
contracting and pricing strategies

* Ensure a standard, best-practices approach to
contracting across the company

* Manage the risks between commercial and
government contracting and pricing

* Analyze contracts and pricing strategy
performance

¢ Gain visibility and control across programs and
functional areas within the organization

I-many Contract Advisor™

Enables Life Science companies to develop
pricing scenarios and structure contracts in a
real-time environment to meet cormmercial goals,
optimize revenue and profitability and monitor
government and regulatory compliance-related
issues.

I-many Contract Manager™

The industry leading contract content management
solution. Centralizes contract content and terms
in an enterprise class repository for instantaneous
search and view capabilities. Also provides the

ability to create contracts from existing templates
and clauses, with collaborative, best-in-class
workflow and an auditable approval process.

I-many CARS®

The gold standard of incentive contract
management solutions. Provides comprehensive,
end-to-end management of mission critical,
incentive-driven contract and program processes.

I-many Medicaid™

Processes data, calculates rebates and creates
payments for both federal and state rebate
programs.

I-many Medicaid State Supplemental™
Streamlines I-many Medicaid's product contract
setup and invoice processing. Key components
include a Non-Standard Rebate Per Unit
Calculator Pack and Supplemental Claim
Processing.

I-many Validata™

Will help ensure the validity and accuracy of the
billions of dollars in Managed Care and Medicaid
rebates pharmaceutical manufacturers across

the industry process and pay each year. Still in
development, I-many Validata will also provide
manufacturers with the ability to validate
prescription-level claims for the upcoming
Medicare drug rebate program and the new

state and supplemental programs.

I-many Government Pricing™

Enables companies to quickly and efficiently
monitor and comply with all government-
mandated pricing and reporting requirements
established by the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program, the Federal Supply Schedule and the
Veteran's Health Care Act of 1992.

I-many Compliance Manager™

Enables companies to compare actual transaction
results against the terms and conditions of a
contract to determine if the transaction conducted
was in compliance with the original intent of the
contract. It also reduces “maverick” procurement
and sales orders by ensuring transactions are tied
back to the contract.
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The selected condensed financial data presented Below as of and for each of the years in the fivVe -year period ended

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL DATA

December 31, 2003 are derived from our financial statements. H1storlcal results are not necessarily indicative of future
results. The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysxs of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our financial statements and notes to thosé statements and other financial

information included elsewhere in this report.

(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

. YEAR .ENDED DECEMBER 31,

Total stockholders' equity

75,256

1999 2000 2001 © 2002 2003
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS IATA o ' .
Total net revenues . 3 20,213 $ 38,330 $ 57,767 $ 54,7‘4‘6' $ 39,412
Loss from continuing operations (52200 (4,175 (21207)  (27293)  (38,491)
‘Loss per common share, basic and dlluted 046) 1 (112) 060) - (0.69) (0.98)
, AS OF DECEMBER 31;
i THOUSARDS) 1999 L2000 2001 © 2002 2003
BALANCE SHEET DATA: , S -
- Cash and cash equivalents $15322°  $50,639 $ 36015 $ 35,979 $ 21,864
Short-term investments v - - - - 2,019
. Working capital 8,633 49112 - . 34457 32462 20,269
Total asseté, 27,182 185,388 91138 - 84,564 49,569
Capital lease obligation, including current portion ST 173 - 188 808 837
: Redeemable'convertiblc preferred s’toc‘k' - 12492 o _ S _ -
Ca97 68761 66,216 29,155




‘ - MANAGEMENT'S DI SCDSS ION AND ANALYSIS
‘OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS @F QPERATHC@N\?

The following discussion of our financial condition and result ts
of operation should be read in conjunction with our financial
statements and related notes. In addition to historical informa-

tion, the followmg discussion and other parts of this report -

contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and

uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from )

those anticipated by such forward-looking statements due to
various factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth

under "Certain Factors That May Affect Our Future Operating.

Results" and elsewhere in this report..

OVERVIEW ‘
We provide software and- related services that allow our
clientsv to. more effectively mahage their contract-based,
~ " business-to-business relationships through the entirety of the

contract management lifecycle. We operate our business in.

two segments: health and life sciences and other industries.

The health-and life sciences line of business’ markets find.

) sells our products and services to companies in the life sci-
ences industries, including pharmaceutical and. medical
product companieé, wholesale distributors and managed care
organizations. “Our other industries line of business targets
all other industries, with an emphasis on consumer products,
foodservice, disposables, consumer durables,
products, chemicals, apparel, and telecommunications.

Our primary products and services were originally

developed to manage complex contract purchasing relation- -

~ ships in the healthcare industry. Our software is currently
licensed by 18 of the 20 largest pharmaceutical manufactur-
ers, ranked aceording to 2002 annual healthcare revenues.
‘As the depth and breadth of our product suites have expand-
ed, we have added companies in the other induétries ‘markets
to our customer base. ‘  : , o ‘

In July 2003, we annouhced an agreement, subject
‘to shareholder approval, to sell our health and life sciences

line of business to Neoforma, Inc.-("Neoforma"). This

agreement was terminated in December 2003.
for the sale, we restructured our organization and, as'a result,
developed a more efficient cost structure entering into 2004,

~ As ‘part of this restructuring, we have reduced our total‘

employee headcount by more than 100 staff posmons since
June 30, 2003. ‘

We have generated revenues -from both products

and services. Product revenues -- which through mid 2001

- had been principally comprised of software license fees gen-

erated from our I-many/CARS software suite and now

includes licensing of our -I-many ContractSphere®

- gate spending on sales and marketing

industrial -

In preparing . ‘

Enterprise Contract Management Product Suite, government
pricing and Medicaid compliance software -- accounted for
56.3% of net revenues in 2002 and 36.3% of net revenues in
2003. Service revenues include maintenance and support
fees directly related to our licensed software products, pro-

“fessional service fees derived from consulting, installation,

business analysis and training services related to our soft-
ware products and hosting fees. Service revenues accounted
for 43.7% of net revenues in 2002 and 63.7% of net revenues
in 2003. This decrease in product revenues as a percentage
of total revenues reﬂects ‘a general decrease in product rev-
enues from 2002 to 2003, discussed in more detail below.

Since June 2001, we have implemented a number
of employee headcount reductions, which have been partial-
ly offset by employee additions through acquisitions and
selective hiring, and we have taken other measures 1o bettér

align our cost structure with projected revenues. Our aggre-

, research and develop-
ment and general .and administrative ’ex'pens'es has been
reduced from $12.6 million in the quarter ended June 30,
2001 to. $8.7 million in the quarter ended December 31
2003. During 2003 actions taken to reduce our operatmg
expenses included the closing of our Chicago, Illinois office,

the significant downsizing of our London, England and

Portland, Maine operations and selective other headcount
reductions. Our ‘total employee headcount has decreased

* from 358 employees at December 31, 2002 to 198 employ-
‘ees at December 31 2003

cmwmu_ ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues from licensing our software and pro-
viding professional services, ;iaining and maintenance and .
support services. Software license revenues are attributable . -
to the addition of new customers and the expansion or

renewal of existing customer relationships through licenses
covering additional users, licenses of additional software

. products and license renewals.

We recognize software license fees upon execution

- of a signed license agreement and delivery of the software to

customers, provided there are no significant post-delivery
obligations, the payment is fixed or determinable and collec-
tion is probable. In multiple-element arrangements, we allo-

“cate the total fee to professional services, training and main-
tenance and support services based on the fair value of those
elements, which is defined as the price charged when those-

" elements are sold separately. The residual amount is then

wl'U
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allocatedto the software licénse fee. If an-acceptance period . ‘
is required, revenues are deferred until customer acceptance.
- In cases where collection is not deerned probable we recog-

mze the license fee as _payments are received. ,
Service revenues 1nclude professronal servrces

: tramrng and maintenance and support services. Professmnal_ ‘
. service revenues are recognized as.the services are per-

formed 1If conditions for acceptance exrst professronal serv-

ice revenues are recognized upon customer acceptance. For
- fixed fee professional “service contract(s, we provide " for

anticipated losses in the period in which the loss is probable

and-can be reasonably estimated. To, date, losses. incurred on -
fixed fee contracts have not been significant.-Training rev-

enues are recognized as:the services are provided. Included

in training revenues are registration fees received from par-

t1c1pants in our off-site User Training Conferences
Mamtenance and customer support fees are recog-

nized ratably over, the term. of the maintenance contract,

which is generally ‘twélve months. When~maintenance and

support is included in the total license fee, we allocate a por-.

tion of the total fee to maintenance and support based upon

. the price paid by the customer to purchase maintenance and -
support in the second year. . o
Payments received from customers at the mception

of a maintenance period-are treated as deferred service rev-
enues and recognized ratably over the maintenance period.

‘ Payments received from customers in advance of product'

shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred
product revenues and’ recognized when the product is

shipped to the "customer ‘or when. otherwise earned:
Substantially all of the amounts included in cost of revenues
i represent direct costs related to the delivery of professronal

services, training and maintenance and customer support.

We account for consideration given to- a ‘customer
or a reseller of our products as a reduction of revenue in -
certain circumstances To- the extent .that consideration e
-earned by a customer or reseller during a reportmg period
‘exceeds revenue earned by the Company from . the

customer or reseller such excess is reported as. sales and
marketrng expense '

. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record provrsions for doubtful accounts based ‘on . a
detailed assessment of our accounts recelvable and related

credit I‘lSl(S In estrmatmg the allowance for doubtful

accounts, management considers the age of the accounts :
receivables, our historical Wr1te off experlence the credit

.worthiness of customers and the economic cond1t10ns of the '
-custorners 1ndustr1es and general economic COI]dlthl’lS

among other factors. Should any of these factors change, the
estimates made by management will- also 'change “which

~ could affect the level of the Company s future provrsron for
" doubtful accounts If the assumptlons ‘we used to calculate

these estimates do not properly reflect future collections
there could be an 1mpact on. future reported. results of opera—
tions. The provisions for doubtful accounts are included in

"general and adm1n1strat1ve expenses in the. consohdated )

statements of operations

<

: Acquzred Intanglble Assets 4'

‘ Acquired 1ntang1ble assets (excludmg goodwrll) are amortized.

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and

- reviewed for 1mpa1rment on an annual basrs or on an interim

ba51s 1f an event or ¢ircumstance occurs between ‘annual tests

‘ 1nd1cat1ng that the assets might be 1mpa1red The 1mpa1rment

test will consist of comparing the cash flows expected to be-
generated. by ‘the acquired mtangible asset to its can’ying
amount If the asset is considered to be 1mpa1red an impair-
ment loss will be recogmzed in an amount by which the

carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Acquired

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will not be

' amortized until their lives are determined to be definite.

" Goodwill .- . ' -

Goodwill is tested for impairment u'sing a .. two=step.
approach. The first- step-is to compare the fair value of a
reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If

-+ _ the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its.carrying

amount goodwrll is not considered impaired and the second
step is not required. If the fair value of the reportlng unitis.
less than its carryihg amount, the second step of the impair-
ment test measures the amount of the impairment loss, if

.any, by comparing the 1mplied fair value of goodwrll to its

carrying amount, If the carrying amount of goodwill.exceeds

~its implied fair value, an impairment-loss is recognized equal
‘to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is calculat- -

ed in the same manner that goodwill is calculated in a busi-

. ness combination, whereby the fair value of the reporting
unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit

(including any unrecognized‘ intangible assets), with the
excess "purchase price" over the amounts assigned to assets
and liabilities representing the'implied fair value of good-
will. Goodwill will be'tested for ,i'mpairment at least annual-

'ly, or on an inferim basis if an event occurs or circamstances-




change that would likely reduce the fair value of a reporting
unit beloy‘v its carrying value. R

Deferred Tax Assets

A deferred tax asset or llablllty is recorded for- temporary‘
- differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for book and

‘tax purposes and Joss carry forwards based on ‘enacted tax

rates expected to be in effect when these temporary items are )
: expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided to -
the extent it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the

deferred tax assets will not be realized. -

'Product Indemnlf/catlons

The Company s agreements with customers generally
include certain provrsrons for mdemnrfymg ‘the customer
against losses expenses, and liabilities' from damages that
" may be awarded against the customer in the event that our
products are found. to 1nfr1nge upoh- a patent copyrlght
trademark, or other proprietary rrght of a tlnrd party. The
’agreements'generally seek to limit the scope of remedies for
~.such indemniﬁcati'on obligations in'a variety of industry-
- standard respects, including our right to replace an infring_ing
product To date, we have not had to reimburse any of our

customers for any losses related to these mdemmfrcatron

. provrsrons and no claims are outstanding as of December 31,

2003. We do not expect that’ any significant impact on finan--
cial pos1tron or the results of operatrons will result from:

these indemnification provisions.

'RECENT EVENTS

~ On December l 2003 we received notice from Neoforma’

~ Coinpany’s health and life sciences business. -
exercised its right to terminate the asset‘purchase agreement,

which the parties entered into on July 18,2003, after the pro- -

posed acquisition did not close by November 30, 2003.
~ Following termination of the proposed Neoforma acquisi-

~ tion, we further reduced the srze and scope of our operations o
in Portland, ‘Maine, by vacating one of our leased. facrlrtresl '

and 1dent1fy1n0 approximately 45 staff positions to be elimi-
nated. These headcount reductions were in addition to the
employee terminations that had been.carried out as part ‘of

the Company’s previous restructuring efforts durmo the sec-" '

_ ond half of 2003, which were implemented in preparatron for
the closing of the Neoforma transaction- before the agree-
ment was terminated. '

Neoforma ‘

- On February 19,.2004, we entered into a merger

~agreement to acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of

Pricing- Analytics, Inc. ("Pricing Analytics"), a California
corporation located in Redwood City, California, which mar-

. kets software used to e€valuate pricing strategies, for a pur- -
chase price of $1.0 million. In addition, upon achievement

of certain reveriue milestones through December 31, 2004,
the former .Pricing Analytics shareholders will be entitled to
additional consrderanon of up to $1.8 million, payable ‘i -

~ cash or common stock at our election. The Company will

assume Pricing Analytrcs s liabilities of approximately
$15,000 and expects to incur transaction costs of approxi-
mately $40,000. The Pricing Analytics acquisition will pro-

_ vide the‘Company,with technology that will enhance our ' .
_product offerings to both our pharmaceutical manufacturing

clients and our industry solutions clients. The transaction

- closed April 2, 20_04';

" RESULTS OF DPERATIONS.

YEAR - ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 COMPARED
TO 'YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

NET REVENUES

l\let revenues decreased by $15.3 million, or 28.0%, 10 $39.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $54.7

“miltion for the year ended Dece_mber 31, 2002. Product rev-
" enués decreased by $16.5 million, or 53.6%,to $14.3 million
for the year ended December'3l, 2003, accounting for sub- '
‘stantially all- of the decrease in net revenues as service rev-
“enues had increased by $1.2 million. The number of license
\contracts (minimum price of $50,000) sold- decreased by

to 47,
that it had terminated its proposed acqursmon of the - 31.5% from.97 to, accounung for the decrease in-product

revenues Although the average “dollar size of license con-

- ~tracts increased in 2003 relative to 2002, approximately $3.5 ,

million of license fees related to ‘'one 2003 contract was
deferred to future years for revenue recognmon purposes.
The net effect of this $3.5 million revenue deferral was that
the change in average,deal size from 2002 to 2003, as adJu_st-
ed to reﬂect the revenue deferral, was not significant.

‘ As. a percentage of total net revenues, revenues

'yder‘iyed from outside the health and life sciences segment
* were 34.0% in 2003, as compared to 31.5% in 2002 and -

24;3% in 2001. Meanwhile, 2003revenues in the health and
life sciences segment were $11.5 million less than in 2002.

‘ ‘ The reduction in health andlife"sciences segment revenues is
" due primarily to a reduced pipeline of sales opportunities in
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ongoing reluctance of our target customers to make informa-

‘tion technology expenditures during the recent economic

downturn, which has lengthened sales cycles and reduced
the number and quality of sales opportunities available to us.

As economic conditions improve and manufacturers begin to -

increase spending on information technology, which current-
ly appears to be the general but uncertain trend, we antrcrpate

_corresponding 1mp1ovement in'demand for our products. We

also believe that the proposed Neoforma transaction, which
was -announced in July 2003 and terminated in December
2003, had a negative impact on new product sales into the

‘health and life sciences market for most of the second half of

the year, due to perceived uncertainty about the future of

“these products and their support. Finally, in 2003 our rew

products in the I-many "ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract

" Management Product Suite remained in development or in
early-stage releases, which limited our ability to derive rev- ‘

enues from them and hindered our ability to reduce our

reliance on our older products.

As a percentage of total net revenues, product rev-
enues decreased to 36.3% for the year ended December 31,

+ 2003 from 56.3% ‘for the year ended December 31, 2002.
This decrease in product revenues as a percentage of total net’
' revenues is principally attributable to the reduction in health

and life science revenues discussed above The $1.2 million

increase in service revenues in.2003 was due to a $1.4 mil- -
lion increase in maintenance- and support revenue, which

was attributable to a net increase in the Company’s fee-pay-

ing installed customer base, partially offset by a $230,000

reduction 4in professional services revenues.

4COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues consists primarily of payroll and related

costs and subcontractor costs. for. providing professional =
services and maintenance and support services and, to a less- -

er extent, amounts due to third parties for royalties related to
integrated technology. Historically, cost of product revenues

has not been a-significant component of total cost of rev- -

enues. Cost of revenues increased by $1.4 million, or 9.9%,
to $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from

$l4 4 million for the year ended December 31,2002, This
_increase is primarily due to a $1.9 rnillion increase in sub-
‘contractor consulting costs, partially offset by a $573,000 .

reduction . in . travel expenses as compared to 2002.

Approximately $1.0' million of the increase in subcontractor
‘costs was related to our decisions to outsource support and

hosting: activitie_s related to certain of the Company’s prod-

this segment. We believe this- decrease resulted from the

ucts. Much of the balance of the subcontractor cost increase
represents the non-recurring impact of delayed hiring deci-.
sions within the professional services organization that were
a consequence of Neoforma’s planned acquisitlon of our
health and life sciences busmess segment.’

As a percentage of total net revenues, cost of rev-

"~ enues increased to 40.2% for the year ended December 31,

2003 from 26.3% for the year ended'Decemb_er 31, 2002. -
This increase in cost of revenues as a percentage of total net

revenues is attributable to the decrease in product revenues

and corresponding increase in service revenues as percent-

ages of total revénues, and to the increase in subcontractor N
' ,costs discussed above.  Service revenues have typically gen-

erated lower margins than product revenues, and we believe
that trend will continue in the foreseeable future.

©PERATHNG EXPENSES

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales and marketing expenses consist prifnarily of payroll
and relate‘d benefits for sales and marketing personnel, com-
mi‘ssi’ons for sales personnel, travel costs, recruiting fees,

~ expenses, for trade shows and advertising and public rela-

tions expenses. During 2003, sales and marketing expenses
also includes a non-cash’ charge of $795,000 related to the
value associated with the granting of a common stock war- -
rant to Procter & Gamble_. Excluding the non-cash warrant
charge, sales and marketingexpense decreased by $6.0 mil-

-lion, or 28.1%, to $15.3 million in the year ende_d December

31,2003 from $21.3 million in the year ended Décember 31,
2002. Significant reductions ' in sales and 'marketing- head-
count - 36 employees at December 21,2003 versus 101 at
December 31, 2002 — _combined with a more than 50 percent

" decrease in commis’sionable'product revenues — were the

principal reasons for a $5.2 million decrease in salaries and
commrssron expenses and a $730, 000 decrease in travel
expenses. "As a ‘percentage of total net revenues; sales and
marketing expense (excluding the non-cash warrant charge)
remained nearly unchanged at 38.8% in 2003 versus 38.9%
in 2002. '

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

. Research and development expenses consist primarily of -

payroll and related costs for development personnel. and
external consulting costs associated. with the development

and maintenance of our products. Research and development

costs, including the costs of developing computer software,
are charged to operations as they are incurred. Research and
development expenses decreased by $474}OOO, or 2.8%, to




$16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from
$17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. -

Significant reductions in salaries and related costs, attributa-
ble to a reduction in development headcount from 126 at

December 31,2002 to 72 at December 31, 2003, were large-'

Iy -offset by a $1.5 million increase in external consulting
“costs resulting from a planned increase in the outsourcing of
development work to an offshore entity. As a percentage of
total net revenues, research and development ‘expense

-increased significantly to 42.5% for the year ended .

December 31, 2003, from 31 4% for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General and adrmnrstrat]ve expenses consist primarily of-

salaries and related costs for personnel in our administrative,
finance and human resources departments, insurance costs,

and legal, accounting and other professional service fees. -

* General and administrative expenses decreased by $992,000,
or 14.4%, to'$5.9 million for the. year.ended-December 31,
2003 from $6.9 million for the year ended December 31,

2002. This decrease is principally attributable to reductions in
salaries, benefits and reIated'costs resulting\from a decrease. -
in administrative headcount from 28 at December 31,2002 to -
14 at December 31,2003, and a $801,000 reduction in the pro--
'vision for doubtful accounts relative to 2002, As a percentage

of total net revenues, general and adrmnlstratrve -expenses

increased to 14.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003\‘

from 12.6% for the year ended December 31, 2002

DEPRECIATION

' Depreeiation expense decreased by $515,000, or 21.8%, t6 -

$1.8 million in the year ended December 31,2003 from $2 4
million in the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease

is attributable to computer and related equipment acquired in -
1999 and 2000 becoming fully depreciated -in 2002 and.

~ 2003. Since the average annual computer equipment addi-

tions during the 1999 and 2000 timeframe (approximately -

$1.5 million each year) were significantly higher than the
" rate of computer equipment additions in 2002 ($933,000)

and 2003 ($650,000), this decrease in depreciation expense .

is expected to continue into 2004.

vAMORTIZATION OF OTHER ACQUIRED
. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

~ Amortization of other acquired intangib]es related to our

- acquisitions amounted to $2.0 million in the year ended
December 31, 2003, which represents a decrease of $3.1 mil-

- lion, or 60.6%,.from the arnortization of $5 .0 million in 2002.

This decrease is attribntable to the discontinued amortization
of acquired intangibles (i) for Intersoft International, Inc.
("Intersoft"), Provato, Inc. ("Provato") and Ozro, Inc.
("Ozro"), pursuant to the full impairment write-offs of these
assets in December 2002, and (ii) for Chi-Cor Information
Management, Inc. ("ChiCor") and BCL Vision Ltd. ("BCL"),
pursuant to full impairment write-offs in June 2003.

IN- PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

~In connection with the acquisition of Menerva Technologies,
Inc. ("Menerva") in March 2002, we allocated $1.0 million of
the total purchase priee to in-process research and develop-

ment, which was expensed upon consummation of the acqui-
sition. This allocation was based on an independent .apprais-
al conducted for the purpose of allocating the initial consid-

‘eration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and lia-
. bilities assumed. This allocation was attributable to one in-
process research and development project, which consisted of -
the. development of significant new features-and functionali-

ty to an ex1st1ng software product.
significant technological milestones on this specific project

as of the acquisition date, but- the project had not reached .

technological feasibility. At the time of the acquisition, the

* project was approximately 60% complete. The Company

invested an additional $350,000 in the project following
acquisition. The project’s development, which progressed in
all material respects consistently with the assumptions that

. the Company had used for estrmatmg 1ts fair value, was sub-
. ‘sequently completed i in May 2002.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND ACQUIRED
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In the quarter ended June 30, 2003, we determined that an
_interim test for impairment to the Company’s goodwill and

other acquired intangible assets was necessary pursuant to
the July 2003 announcement of the proposed sale of our

health and life sciences business to Neoforma. In conjunc- -

tion with the proposed sale to Neoforma, we made plans to
reduce our workforce and focus our near-term development

" efforts prrmarlly on our product offerings in the I-many

ContractSphere® Enterprise Contract Management Product

Suite. The consequent de-emphasis on the technologies

originally acquired in the acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL
- and the corresponding reduction in projected sales of the
related products had resulted in the determination that future
cash flows were not sufficient to support the valuations of -
the ChiCor and BCL long-lived assets. As a result .of‘ our .

Menerva had achleved o

wl‘o
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" . attributable to a decrease in interest income, whrch resulted .
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~ part of this downsiz_ing effort: -

assessment, the ,C_ompany' recorded impairment charges of

$9.2 million and $7.6- rnillion, respectively, associated with’

our acqu_isitions of Chi¢Cor and. BCL. These impairment

- charges were recorded in the other. industries reportable

segment and included impairment of goodwill tofaling $14.8

.million. In the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we record- .

ed 1mpa1rrnent charges of $10:9 million, $1.3 million and

'$1.1 million, assotiated with our acqursmons of Provato and
Intersoft and our November- 2001 technology purchase from
* Ozro, respectively. ' :

: TERMINATED DEAL TRANSACTION COSTS

In connection with the proposed sale of .our health and hfe

sciences business to Neoforma, we 1ncurred $1.1 million in . "
deal- related transaction costs. Included in thls amount were.

legal fees of $543 000, investment banking charges of

$255,000, accountant fees and expenses of $160,000 and |

5

other charges of $163,000.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

In connection with the closures of ‘our -Chicago and India
'ofﬁlces,_the planned reduction of our leased sp_ace in.London
and ‘the significant reduction in our Portland, Maine opera-:
tions, as part of our efforts to reduce operating expenses and’

consolidate operatlons we wrote off $1.9 million in future

" lease obligations and recognized $160,000. in equipment
. impalrrnent charges during the- year ended December 31,

2003. Also, we incurred severance costs. of $555,000 for o

employees whose_ernnloymentwas terminated during 2003 as

In addition, we recorded a

$207.000 charge representing the write-down in value of var- -
ious property and, equlpment assets dunng the quarter ended :
March 31, 2003 unrelated to the restructurrng of operatrons .

In 2002, we recorded a $780,000 charge which represented a

- write-off of the net carrying value of our investment in

Tibersoft Corporation, a privately-held technology company.

: OTHER INCOME NET

Other income, net, decreased by $18, 000 or 7.2%, from _
* $251,000 in thé year ended December 31, 2002 to $233,000
in. the year ended December 31, 2003 This- decrease is -

from lower’ average cash balances and reduced 1nterest rates

. during 2003.

| INCOME TAXES

We 1ncurred operatmg losses for. all quaners in' 2002 and

~ 2003 and have consequently recorded a valuatron allowance

for the full. amount of our net deferred tax asset, whrch con-

st principally of our net operating loss carryforwards as

million and of other acquired intangible assets totaling $2 0. the future realization of the tax benefit is uncertain. No pro-

v1sron or benefit for income taxes has been recorded for the

. years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003.

YEAR ENDED IECEMBER 31, 2002 @@WHPARE-

 TO YEAR ENDED IECENBEH 31, 2@@‘&
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NET REVENUES

A Net revenues decreased by $3 0 mrlhon or 52%, to $54 g
million for the’ year ended December 31, 2002 from $57.8

million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Product rev-
enues increased byp $800,000, or 2.7%,to $30.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $30.0
million in the same.period last year. This: increase’ resulted
'prigmarily' from the introduction and sales of new products

'l derived from technology” and companies acquired “during

2002 "and licensed largely to existing customers. Also, the

. average size of new license agreernents (minimum value of -
$50 000) increased 17% while ‘the number of license con-

tracts sold decreased from 102 in 2001 to 97 during the year

) ended December 31, 2002 An aggregate of 46% of our prod- :
- vuct revenues in 2002 came from existing customers; for the

purchase of addltronal modules, new user hcenses and .-
license renewals. ‘ ’

As a .percentage of total re'v.enue','net revenues
derived from outside the ll_fe sciences segment increased sig-
nificantly to 31.5% in 2002, as compared to 24.3% in 2001.

- The shift reflects an increased emphasis in selling outside of

the life sciénces vertical as well as greater acceptance of the
Company’s  solutions in other vertical markets, particularly

‘ ~1n foodservrce

“Asa percentage of total net revenues product rev-

enues 1ncreased t0.56.3% for the year ended, December 31,

2002 from.52.0% for the year ended December 31, 2001.

‘Service revenues decreased by $3:8 million, or 13.8%, to
- $23.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from

$27.8 million for the same period in 2001. This reduction

" principally reflects a decrease in rnaintenance and support

fees that is.attributable to lower license fees charged on

‘license renewals, maintenance and support fees being typi-

cally determined as a percentage of the related license fee, =
and a decrease in revenues derived from professional service




engagements. The reduction in professional service rev-

enues is attributable to -one unusually large consulting .

-engagement, which generated significant revenues begin-

ning in 2000. This project began tapermg off in late 2001 :

and was completed during 2002

','cosr OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues decreased. by $2.6 mrlhon or 15 4% to
-$14 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from’
~ $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This -

decrease is-due primarily to the reduction in ‘subcontractor

consulting costs from $2.9 million for the year ended .

December 31, 2001 to $727 000 in the same period in 2002.

Also, travel expenses decreased by $334 000 in 2002 as

compared to 2001. -

’ As a percentage of total net revenues cost of rev-
enues decreased to 26.3% for the year ended December 31,
2002 from 29.5% for the year ended December 31, 2001

“This decrease in cost of revenues as a percentage of total net

‘revenues is attributable to the decrease in subcontractor costs'
drscussed above and to the increase m product revenues as a -

percent of total revenues.
. ot@tsaarme EXPENSES

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales and marketmg expenses mcluded a one-time, non- -cash

- charge of $800,000 in the quarter ended June 30,2001 relat-

“ed to the value associated with the granting of a common

stock warrant to Accenture LLP. 'Excluding the Accenture o
warrant charge,'sales» and marketing expense increased by . -
$1.1 million, or 5,6%, to $21.3 million in the year ended - -

December 31, 2002 ‘from’ $20.2 million in the year erided
December 31, 2001.. This. increase in ‘sales and marketing
expense is primarily the result of a $2.4 'mlillion increase in
sales force salary,'connnission and fringe benefit costs, par-

tially offset by a $1.2 million reduction in spending for adver- - !
trsrng marketing and promononal activities. As a-percentage -

of total net revenues, sales and marketing expense, excludmg

ended December 31, 2002 from 34 9% for the year ended
‘December 31, 2001

" RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expenses 1ncreased by $2 4 mrl-ﬂ i
lion, or 16.0%, to $17.2 million for the year ended December
31,2002 from $14.8 million for the year ended December -

31,2001. This increase in research and development expens-
es is principally attributable to higher salary and fringe ben-

efit costs, most of which is the direct result of engineers’

hired pursuant to our recent acquisitions of NetReturn LLC

- and Menerva and, to a lesser extent, our establishment of an

Advanced Technology Center in our Redwood City,

.'California office. As a percentage of total net revenues,

research and devélbpment expense increased to 31.4% for
the year ended December 31, 2002, from 25.7% for the year
ended December 31, 2001.°

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General andr'administrative.expenses decreased by $1.5 mil- .
lion, or 17.5%, to $6.9 million for the year ended December

31, 2002 from $8.3 million for the year ended December 31,

2001 This decreas_e is principally attributable to reductions in ..

. salary and benefit costs, of which $66'8,000'repre'sents'the '
~year-to-year reduction in non-cash stock compensation to our
chief executive ofﬁcer Also, decreases in legal fees and trav- .

el expenses were offset by. hrgher insurance costs and addi-

tions to the provision for doubtful accounts Asa percentage
of total net revenues, general and administrative expenses

decreased to 12.6% for the year ended December 31, 2002,
from' 14.4% for the y_ear ended December 31, 2001. .

“ DEPRECIATION

“From March 2000 to June 2001 deprecratron mcluded amor-
_ tization of capitalized ‘internal-use software development .
- costs related to the Company’s. Internet portal. Excluding ‘

a{nortization related to the Internet portal, the value of which
was written off during the third quarter of 2001, depreciation
expense increased by $48,000, or 2.1%, from $2.3 million in
the,year ended December 31, 2001 to $2.4 million in the year

. ended December 31, 2002. This increase is a result of addi-

tions of ‘computer hardware and software related to mfra-
structure expendrtures ’

AMORTIZATION OF GOODWILL AND ACQUIRED

' INTANGIBLE ASSETS
the non-cash warrant charge increased to 38.9% for the year - .

The Companydid riot record .anyr amortization of goodwill

+. during the year ended December 31, 2002 as a result of our .

adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting 'Standards
(”SFAS") No. 142 con January 1, 2002 Amortization’
expense totaling $5 0 million in the year ended December -
31, 2002 represents the amortization of acquired intangible .

" assets with determinablé useful lives. Excluding the effect -

of the amortization of goodwill that was recognized during
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. vately-held technology company ("Tibersoft").
ended December 31, 2001, we recorded a total of $3.9 rnillion‘

. 2001, amortization expense increased by $2.6: million, or
111.1%, from $24 r‘nillion,in the'year ended December 31,
,2001.-{ - This 'inc_rease in -amortization of other purchased’
intangible assets is attributable to the consummation of addi-

tional acquisitions during the third qua.rter of 2001 and first

~ quarter of 2002. Amortrzatron of goodwill for the year ended

December 31, 2001 amounted to $4.4 miilion.

IN- PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In connection with the acqu151t10ns of Menerva in March

2002, Provato, Inc. in August 2001 and BCL in April 2001, we

allocated $1.0 million, $2.7 million and $1.0 million, respec-

tively, of the purchase price to in-process research and devel-

opment, all of which was immediatély expensed as these proj-
ects had not reached technological feasibility and had no alter-

" native future use. These allocatrons were based on 1ndepend-

ent appraisals conducted for the purpose of allocating the ini-

tial consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acqurred -
and liabilities assumed in the respectlve acqulsrtrons

IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLES

In the quarter ended December 31, 2002 we recorded

impairment charges of $10.9 million, $1.3 million and $1.1
million, associated ‘with our acquisitions of Provato and
Intersoft and our November 2001 technology purchase from

Ozro, respecti{/ely. In the case's of Provato and Ozro, the val-

ues of goodwill and other intangibles ‘w'ere—fully written off

_based upon the Company’s determination that it was no

longer likely to use the technologies it acquired, based on a
detailed review .of -the technology’ performed by our
Advanced Technology Group. With respect to Intersoft, we
determined durlng our 2003 budgeting process that: the
Intersoft operaﬁon was not likely to generate'positive cash-

flows in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the full remain- _
- ing value of Intersoft’s goodwill and other purchased intan--
gibles was written off In the quarter ended December 31,
‘2001 we recorded an 1mpa1rment charge of $895,000 in con-
- nection with a partial write- down of the carrymg value of

goodwrll related to ithe Intersoft acquisition. -

AREST‘RUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

In ‘the quarter ended September 30, 2002, we recorded a
" $780,000 charge, which represented a write- Off of the net car-

rying value of our-investment in Tibersoft Corporation, a pri-
In the year

of charges in connection with a restructuring of the Company’s

operations and the abandonment of our proprietary Internet

portal. Included in the $3.9 million charge was the $2.4 mil-
lion net carrying ‘Value of the Internet portal, $908,000 in sev-

- erdnce. pay, and $553,000 in facility lease costs.

OTHER INCOME, NET -

Other income, net decreased by $>1 2 million, or 82.7%, from

“$14 ‘million in the year ended December 31, 2001, to
- $251,000 in the year ended December 31, 2002. This
“decrease is primarily the result of reduced interest yields

resulting from anloverall‘decline in market interest rates, and

toa IeSser" extent the reduction in the Company’s average
 cash balance during the year ended Decembeér 31, 2002 as
" compared to the same period-in 2001. ‘

.. INCOME TAXES .

We incurred operating losses for all quarters in 20017and
2002 and have consequently recorded a valuation allowance
for the full amount of our net deferred tax asset, which con-

* sists principally of our net operatinig loss carryforwards, as

the future realization of the tax benefit is uncertain. No pro-
vision or benefit for i income taxes has been recorded n the

. years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

@U ITY ANI CAP TAL HESOUR@ES
On February 20, 2002 we completed a private placement of

_common stock, preferred stock and warrants, resulting in our
L ~ receipt of $25 million in gross proceeds. Of this amount, $17

million was held in an escrow account pending conversion of
the preferred. stock into common stock. At our election, the

, $17 million in preferred stock was redeemed on July 2,2002.

In 2002 and 2003, we entered into several capital
lease financing arrangements. with a financial institution.

- Under the terms of :the financings, the aggregate pro'ceeds'

were deposited ina restric‘ted bank account. At December 31,
2003, $807,0_00 of the remaining aggregate proceeds are

" restricted, of which $674,000 is classified as current restrict-
~ed cash and $133,000 is classified as non-current restricted

cash in the consolidated balance sheet. Also, in connection
with the financing.of our annual directors and officers insur-

“ance obligation, we deposited $655,000 in a restricted bank

account during the quarter ended September 30, 2003, of

which $197,000 of the deposit remained‘ at December 31,

2003-and is 'classiﬁed as current restricted cash at Decemiber

31, 2003. The remaining non-current restricted cash balance




of $244 000 at December 31, 2003 represents cash. held on .

deposit as security on a long- term lease obhgauon

‘ At December 31,2003, we had net workmg capital
of $20.3 million, including cash and cash equivalents of $21.9

million and short-term investments of $2.0 million. Also on

December 31,2003, we had no long-term or short-term debt,
other than obligations under capital lease fmancmgs

Net cash used in operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2003 was $11.3 ‘milliliori, as compared to
‘net cash used in operating activities of $4.9 million in the
year ended December 31,2002, For the year ended December

31,2003, net cash used in operating activities consisted of the )
" net'loss of $39.5 million, as offset by the following non-cash -
items which total $25.8 miliion: deprcciation‘and amortiza-’
tion of $3.8 million, impairment of goodwill and acquired’

intangible assets of ‘3168 million, restructuring and other
charges of $2.8 million, and noncash warrant, option and
stock charges of $2.4 million. Offsetting this adjusted net

loss is a $2.3 million decrease in accounts receivable (net of.

provision for doubtful accounts of $169,000) and a $3 4 mil-
lion increase in deferred revenue, partially offset by a $4.0

million decrease in accrued expenses. The reduction in

accounts receivable was largely attributable to improved col-

lection efforts and a decrease in license revenue; the increase

in deferred revenue resulted primarily from the deferral of a .
$3.7 million license arrangement during the quarter ended. "
September 30, 2003, that will be recognizéd‘ as revenue in .

future periods; and the decrease in accrued expenses consist-

“ed primarily of 2003 payments of (i) 2002 year end bonuses,
commissions and other accrued salaries, (ii). the $1.0 million ‘

acquisition—rélated earnout to NetReturn, LLC Asha:eholders,
and (iii) $1 4 million in lease and severance payments related
s. - For the
year ended December 31, 2002, net cash used in'operating

to downsized facilities and employee severances.

activities consisted of the net loss of $27.3 million offset by
non-cash items: depreciation and amortization of $7.4 mil-

lion, in-process research and development of $1.0 million,

impairment of intangibles of $13.3 million, restructuring and

. other charges of $780,000 and non-cash compensation of

$142,000. Other uses of cash included an aggregate’$1.9 mil-
lion decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, off-
set by a $1.1 million increase in deferred revenue and a
$970,000 provision for bad debts.

Net cash used in.investing activities was $2.2 mil-

lion for the year ended December 31, 2003 and $4.3 million :

for the yeariended December 31, 2002. Net cash used in
investing. activities for the year ended December 31, 2003

“included a $2.0 million purchase of short-term investments.
- Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended
. December 31, 2002-consisted of $3.4 million related to the

agquisitions of NetReturn and Menerva and a $1.1 million

. increase in restricted cash, partially offset by-a $450.,000 real-

ization of a long-term receivable.

Net cash used in financing activities was $581,000

“in the year ended December 31, 2003, mostly comprised of

payments on existing capital leases. Net cash provided by

financing activities was $9.1 ‘million for the year ended-
- December 31,2002, primarily from net proceeds of $74 mil-

lion from a private placement sale of common stock and addi-

. tionally from $1.7 million of stock option exercises.

We currently anticipate that our cash and cash
equivalents of $21.9 million and short-term investments of
$2.0 million will be sufficient to meet our anticipated needs
for working capital, capital expenditures, and acquisitions for
at least the: next 12 months. Our future long-term capital
needs will depend significantly on the rate of growth of our

: business,'possible acquisitio'ns; the timing of expanded prod-
uct offerings and the success of these offerings if and when

they are launched. Accordingly, any projections of future
long-term cash needs and cash flows are subject to substan-

‘tial uncertainty. If our current balance of cash and cash equiv-

alents is insufficient to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs,
we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities to raise
funds, and those securities may have rights, preferences or

privileges senior to those of the rights of our common stock. -

In connection with such a sale of stock, our stockholders may
experience dilution. In addition, we cannot be certain that

. additional financing will be available te us on favorable terms.
- when required, or at all. Our current stock price may make it

difficult for us to raise additional equity financing.

CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE
RESULTS

In addition to other information in this Annual Report on-

Form 10-K, the following factors could cause actual results

to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking »

statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

We Will Need to Target Markets Other Than the ‘

Héalthcare Market for Qur Future Growth

We will need to continue efforts to reduce our reliance on the

health and life sciences market, which has traditionally been

-
oy
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- MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

“Total Contractual Obligations. :

- statements,

© OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION (Cont’d.)

G@NTRACTUAL @Bl. GAT @NS - As of December 31 2003

_ PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD AMOUNTS IN $000s

o Less than . More than -
: ' ‘ S “Total: 1 year . 13 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long-Term Debt Obligations -- $ - 8 $ - $ -
Capital Lease Obligations 3 . 869 .. T34 135 - - ; --
Operating Leases Obligations : 11,454 2,305 A 3228 3,067 2,854
Uncondltlonal Purchase o S o ’ '
Obhgatrons - ‘ - - s - --
$12,323 - $3039 . -$3.363. - $2.854

$3.067

- the primary source of our revenues. “We will need to target

both existing as well as new markets in order to grow our rev-

enues and reach profrtabrhty Revenues from our non-health-

care customers haVc compnsed 24, 3%, 31.5% and 34 0%,
respecttvely, of our consolidated revenues for the years ended

- December 31,2001, 2002 and 2003. The Company must con-
tinue to ‘evolve its products and marketing_strategies inorder

to be suceessful in these markets. We may not be successful

- in generatmg the revenue we expect from these markets.

Although we have had some success in selling to markets
outside of healthcare (e.g., foodservice), we. have not yet

demonstrated that our product offermgs have srgmfrcant 3
appeal in many of the markets we are targetmg Whrle we |
‘believe that the,contractualpurchase relationships between

manufacturers and customers in these ‘markets-have similar
attributes to those in the healthcare market, we cannot.assure

you that our asSumptions are correct.

-~ Our Audltors Have Identlfled Materlal Weaknesses |n‘ :

Our Internal Controls

~The Company’s independent auditors have identified, in con-
nection with their audit of our- 2003.consolidated financial

material weaknesses with respect to the
Company’s internal controls and have communicated to our

Audit Commjttee their recotnniendations relating to a need
’for unprovement in the Company’s internal controls W1th
' respect to contractlng practrces and accounting for revenue

recognition. ~Although we are puttmg new policies and pro-

cedures into place to improve our controls, there can be no-
assurance that the Company will be successful in these efforts :

in the near term.

The Bid Price of Our Common Stock on the NASDAQ

National Market Has Been Below $1.00 Per Share, a‘nd'

if the Bid Price Again Falls Below $1.00 Per Share for

an Extended Period,.Our Common Stock May Be .

' 'December 31,

*. Delisted From the NASDAQ National Market Which -

Could Reduce the Liquidity of Our‘Common‘ Stock’

“"and Adversely ‘Affect Our Ab|||ty to Raise Addmonal

Necessary Capital

On Apr11 11, 2003 .we recerved ertten notlﬁcatlon from

Nasdaq that we ‘were not 1n comphance with Nasdaq

Marketplace Rule 4450(b)(4) because the closmg bid price of.
* . our common stock was below $1.00 for 30 consecutive trad-

ing days. We subsequently regained comphance when the bid
price of our common stock closed af $ 1.00 per share or more

.for 10 consecutive tradrng days. If the closing bid price again

falls below $1.00 per share for 30 ‘consecutive trading days

. and we do not regain. comphance ‘we may be delisted from :
' the Nasdaq National Market. The dehstmg of our common
stock may result-in the trading of the stock on the Nasdaq
: SmallCap or the OTC Bulletin Board. Consequently, a delist-

ing of our common stock from the Nasdaq National Market.

" may teduce the liquidity of ‘our common stock, a’d‘versely
_affect our abrllty to raise addrtronal necessary capital and

could adversely affect our sales efforts

 We "Hav‘e' incurred _Substantial Losses in Recent

Years and Our Return to Profitability is Uncertain

We incurred net l_oss‘es of $21.2 million in the year ended
2001, $27.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2002 and $39 5 rmllron in the year ended

' ' December 31, 2003, and we had an accumulated def1c1t at.

December 31, 2003 of $117. 8 million. Our recent results
have been 1mpacted by a number of factors that caused cur-
rent and prospectrve customers to defer, or otherw15e not

. make, purchases from us, and we cannot assure you that we -
~will not be affected by these factors in future-periods. We -
‘cannot assure you that we will achieve sufficient revenues to

become profitable in the future




It is Difficult for Us to Predict When or If Salés will

Occur and We Often Incur Significant Selling

Expenses in- Advance of Our Recognltlon of Any
Related Revenue

Our clients view the purchase‘_of our software applications
and related professional services as a significant and strate- -
gic decision. As a result, clients carefully evaluate our soft-.

ware products. and services. The length of this evaluaﬁon

process is affected by factors such as the client’s necd to rap-.

idly implement & solution and whether the client is new or is
extending an existing 1mplementat10n The license of our
software products may also be subject to delays if the client
has lengthy internal budoetmg, approval and evaluation

processes which are qurte common in the context of intro- -

ducing large enterprise-wide technology solutlons We may

incur significant selling and marketing expenses during a .
client’s evaluation period, mcludmg the costs of deve]opmg

a full proposal and completing a rapid proof of concept or
“demonstration, before the client places an order with us.
Clients may also mmal]y purchase a limited number of

licenses before expandmg their 1mp1ementat10ns Larger '
clients may purchase our software products as part of multi- -

ple simultaneous purchasing decisions, which may result'in

additional unplanned administrative processing ‘and other-

delays in the recognition of our license revenues. If revenues

forecasted from a significaht client for a particular quarter -
are not realized or are delayed, as has occurred in recent .

quar’rers we may experience an unplanned shortfal] in rev-
enues during that quarter. This may cause our operating
results to be below the expectations of public market ana-

lysts or investors, which could cause the value of our com-

mon stock to decline.

Economic Conditions May Continu'e, to Weaken
Our Sales ’ w S
The recent downturn and uncertairrry in géneral economic
and -market conditions have negatively affeclted and may

continue to negatively éffeét demand for our products and -

services. If the ecoriomic downturn continues or worsens,

- our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be harmed. In addition, current world economic and -
polmcal conditions have reduced the willingness of our cus-+ -

tomers and prospectlve customers to commit funds-to pur-
chase our products and services. The resultmg loss or delay

in our sales has had and could continue to have a material

adverse effect on our- busmess ﬁnancral condition and
results of operations.

~ We Have Multiple Facilities and We May Experience

Difficulties in Operating From These Facilities
We will continue to operate out of our corporate headquar-
ters in Edison, New Jersey, our primary engineering office n

Redwood City, California- and in reduced facilities in =

Portland, Maine and London, England. The geographic dis-

" tance between our offices could make it difficult for our

management and other employees to effectively communi-

cate with each other and, as a result, could place a significant.

strain on our managerial, operational and financial resources.

- Also; we expect that a significant number of our sales and

professional services employees will continue to work
remotely out of home offices, which will potentially add to
this strain:

, We May Not be Successful in Developing or
‘pAcquiring New Technologies or Businesses and This

Could Hinder Our Expansion Efforts

* We intend in the future to continue our product research and

development efforts:at levels similar to current expenditures

~and to consider additional acquisitions of or new investments

in complementary businesses, products, services or tech-

nologies. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in

our product development efforts or we will be able to identi-
fy appropriate acquisition or investment candidates. Even if

“wedo 1dent1fy suitable candidates, we cannot assure you that -
we will be able to make such acquisitions or investments on

commercially acceptable terms. Furthermore, we may-incur

~ debt or issue equity securities to pay for any future acquisi-

tions. The issuance of equity securities could be dilutive to
our existing stockholders and the issuance of debt could limit

.our available cash and‘ac‘cordingly re'strict our activities.

We May Make Addl‘tlonal Acqunsuttons and We May
Have Difficulty Integratmg Them

In the past, we have acquired ChiCor, Intersoft, BCL (now I- -

many International Limited), Provato NetReturn, LLC and
Menerva, each of which is.or was located in cities very distant

from our headquarters in Edison, New Jersey. We may make
additional acquisitions. Any company that we acquire is likely .
10 be distant from our headquarters in Edison, New Jersey and

will have a culture different from ours as well as technologies,
products and services that our employees will need to under-
stand. and integrate with our own. We have assimilated the
employees technologles and products of the companies that
we have acquired and will need to do the same with any new
companies we may acquire, and that effort has been, and will
likely continue to be difficult, time-consuming and may be

;,‘]“04
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. unsuccessful If we are not successful our mvestment in the
acquued entity may be 1mpa1red or lost and even if we are suc-

cessful the process of i 1ntegratmg an acqulred entrty may divert
our attention from our core business.

. it We Do‘Acq‘uire New Technologies'or Businesses,
Our Results of Operatlons May Be Adversely
Affected .

In connection with our acqu1smons we have recorded sub- ) :
- - stantial goodwrll and other purchased mtang1ble assets. In -
addition, we recorded charges for wnte offs of a portlon of
the purchase prices: of acquired companles as in- -process,
‘research and development. The carrying values of acquired ‘
intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed for'impairment ’

‘on a penodlc basis. In the years ended December 31, 2002

“and 2003, we recorded 1mpa1rment charges of $13.3 million -
and $16.8 million, respectlvely, in connection with the write-

_off of goodwill and other purchased intangible assets. We
cannot assure you that future write- downs of any such assets

- will not affect future operatmg results

Our leed Costs Have Led, and May Contlnue 1o - |

Lead to Fluctuat|ons in -Operating Results Which

Has Resulted and Could. in the Future Result In a

Decllne Of Our Stock Pnce

A significant percentage of our expenses partlcularly person- :
nel costs and rent, are fixed costs and are ‘based in part on -

expectations of future: revenues. We may be unable to reduce

spending in a timely manner to compensate for any srgmﬁcant “

fluctuations in revenues. Accordingly, shortfalls in revenues,

as ‘'we -experienced in recent quarters, may cause significant
Vanatlons in operatmg results m-any quarter Our stock price’

has been 1mpacted by the failure of our quarterly results to

_meet the expectatrons of market analysts and 1nvestors and it

could declme further

We Have Many Competltors and Potent|al‘_v
Competitors and We May Not .Be Able to.

- Compete Effectlvely
The market for our products and services is compet1t1ve -and

subject to raprd change We encounter significant competrtron,

for the ‘sale ‘of our contract management software from the
internal’ information, systems departments of ex1stmg and
potential clients, software companies that target the contract

management markets and, profess1onal services organiza-
-tions: Our competitors vary in size and in the scope and
breadth of products and. _serv1ces offered. We anticipate

!

increased competition for market share and pressure to -

reduce prices and make sales concessions; which-could mate-,

‘rially and adversely affect our revenues and margins.

- Many of our existing competitors, as well as a num-

‘ber of potential‘new competitors have longer operating his-
" tories; greater name recogmt]on larger customer bases and

significantly greater financial, techmcal and marketmg

: ‘resources than we do. Such competrtors may also engage in

more extensive research and development, undertake more

far—reaching marketing campaigns, adopt ‘more aggressive

: pncmg pohcles and make more attractive’ offers to existing

- and potentlal employees and strategic partners. Our competl-
“tors could develop products or services that are'equal or supe- -

rior to our solutions or that achreve  greater market acceptance .

than our solutions. In addition, current and potential competi-

tors have establl‘shed or may establish cooperative relation-
ships among themselves or with third parties. We may not be
able to compete successfully, and competmve pressures may
requ1re us to make concessmns that will adversely affect our
revenues and our margms or reduce the demand for our prod- ‘

- ucts and services.

‘We Rely Slgmflcantly Upon Certaln Key Indlwduals

and Our Business Will Suffer If We Are Unable To T

[ Retain Them

We. depend on the serv1ces of our senior management and key"

,techmcal personnel. In particular, our success depends on the

continued efforts of A. Leigh Powell, our Chief Executive

_ Officer, and other key employees. The loss of the serv1ces of
' any key employee could have a material adverse effect on our
* business, financial condition and results of operations.




.‘QUANTGTAT WVE AND @UAL&TAT VE D SCL@SURES

ABOUT MARKET RISK

INTEREST RATE RISK

" The Company‘s exposure to market risk for éhénges' in'inter-

_est rates relate primarily to the'Company's invéstment port-" -

folio. The Company does not use derivative financial instru-
ments in its investment portfolio. The primary objective of
the Company s investment activities is to preserve principal
while maximizing yields without assummg s1gn1f1cant risk-
Th]S 18 accomphshed by investing 1n d1vers1ﬁed investments,

consisting primarily of short-term investment- grade securi--
tles Due to the nature of our mvestments we believe there '

" is no material risk exposure. A 10% change in interest rates,
either positive or negative, would not have had a 51gn1f1¢ant
effect on interest income in 2001, 2002 or 2003.

'Ashof December 31, 2003, the. Co"r_npény’s cash and cash
equivalents consisted-entirely of money ‘market'investments

with remaining maturities of 90 days or less when purchased
" and non-interest bearing checking accounts. Investments in

fnarketablé debt securities with maturities greater than 90

.. "days and less than one year are classified as short-term

investments. All of the Company’s short-term investments
are classified as held-to-maturity and have been recorded at

“-amortized cost. At Do;cember 31, 2003, the Company had

$2.0 million of held-to-maturity investments that consisted

* of a-US Government agency security and a corporate bond.

Under current investment guidelines, maturities on short-

- term investments are restricted to one year or less.

~ FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

"The Conlpany operates in certain foreign locations, where “

the currency used is not the U.S. _ddllar. However, these

" locations have not been, and are not currently expected to be,
significant to our .consolidated financial statements.-
Changes in exchange rates have not had a material effect on

our busmess

-
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 CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEETS |

| December »31 ;

(In thousands, except share-related information) o ' ' o o o 2002 - 2003
ASSETS ‘ | |
Current assets: : ’ : , . S : -
. "Cash and cash equivélehts ’ o R B $ 35979 $ 21,864
Restricted cash . T S ST 871
* Short-term mvestments e ’ ‘ ’ B . , — . 2,019
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1 391 and $588 in 2002 and 2003 respectwely ‘ 12,557 1@,@57
» Prepald expenses and other current.assets - . . ' C S 1052 . 878
" Total current assets ~ . / o . o o 50,360 35,630
- Property and _equipment, net , . E L Co 3438 1,879
Restricted cash N R . REE o ‘ S -, 348 37T
Other assets = - - S ‘ T 92 330
-Acqu1red mtanglble assets net . . _ A A = R 6,828 . 2,822
Goodwill - _ , e S 23298 8,531
‘ Total assets -~~~ o o o S . $84564 $ 49,569

LIABILITIES AND ST@CKH@LDERS" E@U

Current liabilities; _' o _ o T : : o ‘
Accounts payable . - L - o C S %1413 $ 1,483

. Accrued expenses o - T R 8,502 5,989
Current portlon of deferred revenue ) : . A E . 7550 . - 7,1}8@
Current portion of capital lease obhgattons - " S - - . 433 . 709

Total current liabilities : , C S 17,898 15,361
Deferred revenue, net of current portion S ' ‘ o . = 3,816
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion _:‘ : R R - 375 , ﬂ28 i
Other long-term liabilities . ’ ' , L - 75 1,109

Total liabilities C o o ‘ © 18348 20,414
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7) I ' N : C o »
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $ 01 par value

Designated — 1,700 shares o e o ‘ |
Issued and outstanding - none : - ' o o ' : . R —_

. 'Stockholders’ eqUity-
Preferred stock, $.01 par value ,
" Authorized — 5,000,000 shares; de51gnated -1 700 shares
 Issued and outstanding - none ‘ - o - -
Common stock, $.0001 par value o ' '
Authorized - 100 000 000 shares ) - :
Issued and ouistandmg 40277045 and 40 ,550,590 shares_ ‘ » oo : .
in 2002 and 2003, respectively .- ' o o B

Additional paid-in capital : o . 144421 180,613 o
Deferred stock-based compensation ‘ ‘ Lo o ‘ 47) (3,680)
Stock subscription payable - : . , o ‘ : 142 C e
Accumulated other comprehensive'income ' ’ " : E 30 43
Accumulated deficit - . . 0 . (78334) (197,8285)
Total stockholders' equity - S IR IR 66,216 29,155
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity =~ B L ‘ $ 84,564 $ 49,569

.See notes to consolidated financial statements -




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

" (in thousands, except per share amounts). -

Year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003

Net Revenues:
- Product -
Service ,
Total net revenues.
. Cost of revenues
Gross profit.
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and develop‘me‘n't
General and administrative
) Depreéiation L ; Lo
. Arhortization of goodwill and acqhired intangible assets
In-process research and development ‘ | _
Irﬁpairmeﬁt of acquired intangible assets - | B
Impa;irment of goodwill ‘
Terminated deal transaction costs -
Restrubturing and other chargés )
Total operating expenses -
Loss from operations
- Other income, net
Net loss - A

$ 30011 .$ 30811 $ 14,287
27,756 23935 25,125

57767 54746 - 38,412
17,059 14425 15,860

40,708 40,321 23,852

20952 21275 16,087

14837 17217 - 18,743
© 8,340 6834 5,802
3981 © 2361 1,846
6800 5043 1,888
3700 . 1000 @ —
- 5,996 2,018

895 7309 14,7867
L= - 1,121
3858 780 2,813

63363 - 67,865 83,276

(22655) | (27544)  (39,724)
1,448 251 233

Q1207)  (27293)  (39,491)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

Weighted average shares @uﬂSﬁandﬁng

“$ (060) $ (069 $ (0.98) .

See notes to consolidated financial statements

35,056 39,751 40,445

.-
-~

o -




@@NS@LDIATED STATEMENT@ OF REDEEMABLE PREFERF&ED STOCK

AND ST@@KH@L@ERS EQUITY

(N THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

' Redeemable Convertible

Common St_ock

Preferred Stock. .

Shares’

.Redemption

Value .

. " $.0001 Par
- Shares - Value

Balance, January 1, 2@@ﬂ
_Exercise of stock options
Tssuance of common stock pursuant -
to acqursltlons
Issuance of commeon stock pursuant
to asset acquistion
Amortization of deferred stock based
compensation )
Value of stock-based compensatron ‘
Valie of warrants issued for services |
Issuance of common VStock pursuant to
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

-Exercise of warrants to purchase common stock
.- Foreign currency translation ’adjustnient

Net loss
Baﬂance Decembev 31] 2001
~Exercise of stock options
'Issuance of common stock pursuant
to NetReturn arid Menerva acquisitions
" Issuance of additional common stock pursuant
to ChiCor, Intersoft and BCL acquisitions
Private placement sale of common stock,
net of issuance costs of $589 '
Issuance of redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Redemption of redeemable convemble
preferred stock : , -
Amortization of deferred stock- based
compensation.”
Value of stock- -based compensation
Rescission of stock grant
" Value of warrant issued for services
Tssiance of ‘common stock pursuant to
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Foreign currency translation édj-ustment' :
Net-loss -
Baﬂance, lecember 31, 2002
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to software licensing agreement
Issuance of restricted common stock
to directors ‘
Issuance of non- quahfred stock: optrons
‘Amortization of deferred stock- -based-
" compensation
Reduction in deferred stock based
“compensation resulting from attrition
Value of stock-based compensétion '
Redemption of common stock -
Value of warrant issued for services
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee Stock. Purchase Plan
Foreign currency tr anslatron adjustment
Netloss = . e
Balance, Decémber 31, 2@@3

B

. 32940767 - . 8 . 3
1206992 © =

2888882 1

137363 . —

21,886 —
5,098 - —

S 1700

(1,700)

. (17.000)

17,000

37,200,988 4

- 483868 0 T —
1411208 -

32,188 -

1100413 - —

C 1000000 - 0 —

(100000) =
48380 . — -

40277045 . 4
43168 -

88339 -

16,215 _—

100000 o
88339 . —

1mag62

" See notes to consolidated financial statements -

3

40,550,590 $ . 4




Aciditiona]

Stock

Accumulated

quérred ) - Other . : Total
Paid-In Stock-based Subscription * Comprehensive * - Accumulated Stockholders'
Capital __Compensation " Payable Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
% 98,746 s A5y 8 — O $ (29,834) $ 68,761
3077 » - = - ' - 3,077
21371 - 358 - — 21,730
1010. - ~ - - - 1010
- 60 = — - .60
24 - 810 - - 834
800 - - - — 800
196 - - - - - © 196
- = = ) Co- )
— — b = ,(21,207) (21,207)
" 125224 94) 1,168 5) < (51,041) 75256
1,652 - = A ' - 1,652
o812 — - - - 8712
452 —~ (358) - - 9
7.410 - ~ — ~ 7410
- 47 - - — — 47
810 - (668) - - 142
20 = - - — 20 -
141 — - - - 141
_ — - 35" L = 35
v _ _ — — ~(27,293) (27,293)
144,42] (47) 142 30 (78.334) | 66,216
36 T - = - 3
75 — — - - 75
16 (16) -~ - — —
5300 (5,300, L _ _ ~
- 1505 - - - 1,505
78y 178 - ~ _ _ -
142 - C(142) - - -
(106) - = — - (106)
795 - - - - 795 .
S - - - - 112
- - - 13 - 13
S - S — (39,491) (39.491)
$ 150,613 $ (3,680) $ = s . 43 1$29,155

$ (117.,825)

“alo




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

{In thousands) ' 2001 2002 2003 .
Cash FI ows from @peratung Actuwﬁnes _ o
Net loss ' ’ $(21207). $(27293) $ (39,491)
AdJustments to reconcile net loss to net cash : '
used in operating activities:. . , : _ e
Depreciation and arnprtlzatlon 10,706 - 7404 3,834 -
- In-process research and development , 3,700 1,000 - —_
Provision for restructuring and other charges 3 2,385 780 2,813
‘Impairment of acquired intangible assets - = 5.996 2,019 .
Impairment of goodwill : : 895 7,309 14,767
- Amortization of deferred stock- based compensatlon 60 47 1,505
‘Provision for doubtful accounts o — ~ 970 169
Noncash marketing éxpense related to issuance of warrant - 800 20 - 795
Noncash cost of revenue related to issuance of stock ‘ - — 75
Stock compensation expense 834 142 —
Changes in operatmg assets and liabilities, net of acqu1s1t10ns ,
~Restricted cash b (383) 186
- Accounts receivable . 2076 (80) $ 2,331 -
" Prepaid expense and other current assets (56) T (337) 233
Accounts payable ~ ' CO(1.554) . (794) .70
Accrued expenses 870 (1,086) (3,973)
Deferred revenue (2.670) 1,091 - 3,446
" Deferred rent 115 (40) - B7
- Net cash used in. dperating activities . (3.046) (5.254) (11,164)
. Cash Flows from Investing Activities:. ‘ N ' ‘
Purchases of property and equlpment (1.822) (196) —_
" Purchase of technology ' : . (758) - D —
- Additional cash paid to acquire Chi-Cor Informatlon Management Inc. (2,690). - —_—

~ Cash paid to acquire Vintage, Inc. o (731) — —_
Cash paid to acquire Intersoft International, Inc.- (591) — -_

- Cash paid to acquire BCL Vision Ltd. ' (4,539) . — _
Cash paid to acquire Provato, Inc. (3.382) - —
Cash paid to acquire NetReturn, LLC A e (634) —
Cash paid to acquire Menerva Techinologies, Inc. — (2,755 —
Purchases of short-term investments — ‘ — (2,019)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (261) - - 461 (38)

Net cash used in ini/esting activities - (14,774) (3,131) (2,057)
~Cash Flows from Financing Activities: ‘ ' ’
Net proceeds from private placement sale of common stock — 7 410 —
Payments on capital lease obligations an (117) (822)
Increase in restricted cash — (737) T (314
Redempﬁon of common stock — - © (106)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 3,077 1,652 -36
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan 196 141 - 192
Net cash provided by.(used in) financing activities 3,196 8,349 . {894) .
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14,624) (36) {14,115)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 50,639 136,015 35,079
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year '$36015 $ 35979 21,864

(Continued)




" (In thousands)

" Year Ended December 31,
. 2001 2002 2003

~ Suppl emema Disclosure @‘J @ash Fl ow nﬁ@a’matn@n

74

Cash paid for interest 3 43 % 34 8
Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Activities:

Issuance of common stock pursuant to cashless exercise of warrants $ 100 $ — % —
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock D 3 800 - $ 20 $ 785
Non-cash issuance of stock 3$ — 8 810 . § 217 .
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases . $ — 3 737 $ 650
Issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock $ — $ 17000 § —
‘Rédemption of redeemable convertible preferred stock $ — $ 17000 $§ —
Adjustments to acquisitions’ purchase price allocation $ — $ 1847 § —
Increase in deferred stock-based compensation, net of forfeitures $ — 3 - $ 5,122

See notes to consolidated financial statements

'NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. (1) Operatioris and Sﬁgmfﬁcam Accounting Policies

‘I-many, Inc. (the "Company", formerly SCC Technologiés,

Inc.) provides software solutions and related professional -
services that allow customers to manage complex contract-

based or trade agreement-based business-to-business rela-
tionships. Historically, the Company's primary customer
base has included parties involvedin the sale and distribu-

._tion of pharmaceutical and other healthcare products, includ-
ing manufacturers, purchasers, groups of purchasers and dis-

tributors. The Company has since expanded the market reach
of its product offerings, with customers in the consumer
products, foodservice; dlsposables consumer durables

industrial products, chemicals, apparel telecommumcauons

and other industries.

“(a) Principles of Consolidation. - o
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its wholly owned subsijdiaries. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consohdatlon

(b) Use of: Estlmates

The preparation of financial statements in conform1ty with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts

+of revenues and expenses during the repomng period. Actual
- results’ could differ from those estimates. Major assets and

liabilities that are subject to estimates include allowance for

- doubtful accounts, gdodwi‘ll and other acquired intangible

assets, deferred tax-assets and certain accrued expenses.

(c) ,Revehué Recognition

Software license fees are recognized upon execution of a

- . signed license agreement arid delivery of the software to cus-

tomers, provided there are no significant post-delivery obli-
gations, the payment is fixed or determinable and. collection

" is probable. If an acceptance period is required, revenues are

deferred until customer acceptance. In multiple-element
arrangements, the ‘total fee is allocated to the undelivered
professional services, training and maintenance and support

services based on the fair value of those elements, which is

defined as the price charged when those elements are sold

: separately The residual amount is then allocated to the soft-

ware license fee.
Service .revenues include professmnal services,

training, maintenance and suppon services and out-of-pock-

et reimbursable expenses. Professional service revenues are
recognized as the services are performed. If conditions for
acceptance exist, profe'ssiorial service revenues are recog-
nized upon customer acceptance. For fixed fee professional

“service contracts, anticipated losses are provided for in the




Rf

-Cost of revenues as reclassified -

'NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd.)

period in which the loss is probable and can be reasonably

estimated. Training revenues are recognxzed as the services
are provided. Included i in tramrng revenues are regrstranon

conferences

Maintenance and customer support fees are recog- '

nized ratably over the term of the maintenance ;contract,
which is generally twelve months. When. maintenance and
support is included in the total license fee, a portion.of the

fotal fee is allocated to mairitenan’ce and support based upon -
the prrce paid by the customer-when sold separately, gener- E

ally as renewals in the second year. .

Payments received from customers’ at the inception -

of a maintenance period are treated as deferred service rev-

" enues and recognized ratably éver the maintenance period.
Payments received from customers in advance of product

shipment or revenue recognition are treated as deferred rev-

enues and recognized when the product is shipped to the cus- -

tomer or when otherwise earned. Substantrally all ‘of the

 amounts included in cost of revenues represent direct costs

related to the dehvery of profess1onal servrces tra1n1ng and
marntenance and customer support

“ The Company accounts for consideration grven to a "
‘customer or reseller of its products as a reduction of revenue in -

certain circumstances. To the extent that consideration earned
by a customer or reseller during'a reporting period exceeds rev-

. _enue earned by ‘the Company -from the custo_mer or reseller,

such excess is reported as sales and marketing expense:
“Effective -in - January 2002,

"Income Statement Charactenzatron of Reimbursements
Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred,” the

* Company accounts for rermbursements of out-of-pocket
expenses related to its professronal services business as rev-.
enue. During 2001, the reimbursements had been reflected

as a reduction of cost of revenues in the Company s financial
statements. For comparative - purposes, the Company has
reclassified out-of-pocket reimbursement amounts as rev-
enue in its 2001 financial statements, as follows

L . Year Ended

_ R ‘ December 31, .
(Amountsln thousands) ' - . ' 00 I
. Service revenues as previously‘ reported - $26,080
~ Out- -of-pocket: re1mbursable expenses ‘ - 1,696
© Service revenues as. reclassrﬁed $27,756
* Cost of revenues as previously reported $15,363
Out-of-pocket reimbursable expenses ' S0 1,886 /
'  $17,089

: in accordance w1th" .
\ Emergmg Issu¢s Task Force- ("EITF") Issue No. 01-14,

(d Product Indemnlflcatlon '

- The Company s agreements wrth customers generally 1nclude

' ‘certain provisions for indemnifying the customer against loss- .
fees received from part1crpants in our off-srte user trarmng "

€s, EXpenses, and liabilities from damages that may be award--

ed against the customer in-the event that our. products are -

, found to 1nfr1nge upon a patent copyright, trademark, or other
proprietary right of a third party. The agreements generally
- limit the scope of remedies for such indemnification obliga-

tions in a variety of mdustry -standard respects, including.our
right to replace an mfnngrng product To date, the Company

“hds not had to reimburse any of our customefs for any losses
. related to these 1ndemn1ﬁcatron provisions and no claims are’
" outstanding as-of Decémber 31, 2003. . '

" (e) Goodwill

- Goodwill'is tested for impairment using a two-step approach. -

The first step compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its -
carrying amount, mcludmg goodwrll If the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, goodwrll is
not considered impaired and the second step is not required. If
the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying

. amount, the second step of the impairment test measures the
“amount of the impairment loss, if any, by comparing the,

implied fair value of goodwill to its catrying amount. If the

carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value,an -

impairment loss is recognized- equal to that excess. The
implied fair value of goodwill is calculated in the same man-

‘ner that goodwrll is calculated in a business combrna‘non

whereby the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all.

, " of the assets and liabilities of that unit (including any unrec-
- ognized intangible assets), with the excess purchase price over .
- the amounts assigned to assets and liabilities representmg the-
‘ nnphed fair value of goodwrll Goodwill is tested for i impair-.

ment at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs
or circumstances change that would likely reduce the fair
value of a reporﬁng unit belo'w its carrying "Value." '

~ Inthe year ended December 31, 2002, the Company

recorded a $7.3 million 1mpa1rment charge representing a full

Wrrte down of the carrying value of goodwill related to its - '
acqursrtrons of Intersoft International, Inc. and Provato, Inc.. -
(see Note- ’lO) In the year ended December 31, 2003, the
Company recorded a $14.8 million impairment charge repre-
senting a full write-down of the carrying value of goodwill .
related - to its acquisitions of Chi-Cor Information

" Management; Inc..and BCL Vision, Ltd. (See Note 10).

As of December 31, 2003, the net carrying value of

the Company’s goodwill totaled $8.5 million. No amortiza-

tion expense was recorded for the yéars ended December 31,
2002 and 2003. Amortization of goodwill for the year ended
December 31, 2001 amounted to $4.4 million. The following -

\1nformanon summarizes the effect of: excluding goodwill




amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2001.

This information is presented in thousands of dollars except :

per share data:

- Net loss as reported - ($2ﬂ;2@7)

Add back goodwill amortization , 4,411
" Adjusted net loss {$16,796)
Adjusted net loss per share

) Cash‘ and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly 11qurd securities wrth

. remaining maturities of 90 days or less when purchased tobe .

cash equrvalents Cash: equlvalents are stated at-cost, which
approximates fair value, and primarily consist: of money
market funds and.overnight investments that are readily
convertible to cash. Restricted cash-comprises amounts held
in deposits that are required .as CQllateral"under various
capital lease .financing -arrangements, the lease of office

space in the Company’s London office, and a deferred’

payment plan for D1rectors and Officers insurance.

(g) Short-term Investments

Investments in marketable debt securmes with manmtles
greater than ninety days and less than one year are classified _

. as short-term -investments. Purchases and sales of .mar-

ketable debt securities are recorded on'a ‘trade-date basis. - .

Dividend-and interest income are recognized when earned.

- . Realized gains and losses from the sale of marketable debt
securities are determined on a specific identification basis. -

There were no realized gains or losses during 2003. As of

December 31,2003, all of the Company’s short-term invest- -
ments are . classified as held-to-maturity and" have been.
recorded at amortized cost. A decline in the market value of
a held-to-maturity security below amortized cost that'is con-
sidered to be other than 'ternporary would result in'a reduc-
*_tion in carrying amount to.fair value. The impairment would -
be charged to earnings-rand a new cost basis for- the.securlty »
.~ would be established. There have been no, impairments of ..

held-to-maturity securities during 2003.. At December 31,
- 2003, the Company had '$2.0 miillion of held-to- maturrty
investments that consrsted of a US Government agency secu-

rity and a corporate borid and the remaining maturities of

these securities ranged from six'months to 12 months.. At

December 31, 2002, the Company had no 1nvestments in -

marketable securities.

(h) Property and Equrpment Net

Property 'and equlpment are recorded at cost Depreciation
~and amortization are computed using the straight-vline
" method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which
are indicated in the table below. Reparr and mamtenance
costs are expensed as incurred. S

{$0.48)

Estimated Useful

Description . ’ » Lives
~ Computer software 3 years .
Computer hardware 3 yéars
Furniture and equipment - 57 years
.- Leasehold improvements %5 years
Developed technology - 4 years

* Leasehold improvements are amomzed over the asset’s estimiated useful

hfe or lease term, wh1chever is less

(|) Long -Lived Assets

Long -lived assets are reviewed for- impairment on an annual

. basis, or-on an interim basis if an event or circumstance oceurs
.between annual tests indicating that the assets might be

impaired. * The impdirment test consists of comparing the
asset’s carrying amount to the related undiscounted future
cash flows. If the fair value is less than the carrying amount,

an impairment loss is recognized in-an amount equal to that:
‘difference. As a result of its-reviews, the Company recorded
. asset impairment charges related to acquired intangible assets

of $6.0 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December
31,2002 and 2003, respective]y Also, the Company wrote off
the $780 000 net carrying value of its investment in Tibersoft

s Corporat1on during 2002, which is reported as-restructuring
* ‘and other charges in the consolrdated. statements of operations.
For »the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company record-

“ed an asset impairment charge related to an Internet website

‘ and other charges of $3:3 million, which is reported as restruc-

turing and other charges in the consolidated stater_nents of
operations. (See Notes 10 and 11.)

(). Research and Development Costs

: Research and development costs are charged to operanons as
' 1ncurred ‘Based on- 'the - Company's product- development

process, technological feasibility is established upon com-

" pletion of a working model. Costs incurred by the Company
" between completlon of the working model and the point at
' which the product is ready for general release have not been -
" material. As such, all software development costs mcurred to
'date have been expensed as incurred.

'(k) Computer Software Developed or Obtarned for

Internal Use

" Costs incurred for mternal -use software during the prelrm1

nary project stage and .costs incurred for data conversion,
training and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Once the
preliminary project stage is completed, external direct. costs
incurred during the application development stage are capital-

“ized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset.
- The Company incurred significant expenditures
. related to the design and development of an Internet website
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‘that were capitalized in February 2000 and were herng amor-

tized, upon launch of the website, over 1ts estimated useful

life of two years. During 2001 the Company wrote off the -

remaining ' unamortized capltahzed website development

.costs of $2.4 million as part of the restructurmg and other -

charges (see-Note 11).

() Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose’ the Company

to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash equrvalents

and accounts recervable The Company believes the concen:

tration of credit risk with respect to cash equivalents is lim-

.ited because the Company places its investments in highly-
- rated financial institutions. Concentration of credit risk with

respect to accounts réceivable.is limited to certain customers

- to whom the Company makes substantial sales.. The.

Company generally requires no collater‘al.‘ To reduce risk,

the Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its’

customers and, as a consequefce, believes that its accounts
receivable “credit risk exposure is limited. The Company

.maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and estimated
losses but historically. has not experienced any significant

losses related to individual customers or groups of customers
- in any particular industry or geographic area. '

. None of the Company’s customers had accounts

“receivable balances, -including .unbilled ‘receivables, which

individually represénted 10% or more of the Company’s

total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2002 or 2003. -

The Company had one customer whose revenues
represented a significant percentage of total net revenues, as
follows: " '

) ‘December 31,
. ‘ 2001 . 2002 - 2003
Customer A" ; - 12% ok .

* Less than 10% of the Company's total.

(m) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrylng amounts of the Companys financial instru-
ments, 1nc]ud1ng its cash and cash equivalents, short- term

: 1nv_estments, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts

payable, accrued"expenses and- capital lease obligations

approximate their fair value due to the relatively short-term :

nature of thes_e instrumerits.

(n) Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing

~ the net loss avallable to common stockholders for the period |

by the weighted dverage basic and diluted number of shares

of common stock outstanding during the period. The calcu-
lation of basic weighted average shares outstanding excludes -
unvested restricted common stock that is subject to repur-

chase by the Company. For periods in which a net loss has
been incurred, the calculation of diluted net loss per share

" excludespotential common stock, as their effect is antidilu- -

tive. Potential common stock includes-(i) incremental shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
stock options and warrants calculated using the treasury

_stock method; (ii) shares of common stock »issuable upon the

exchange or conversion of preferred-stock and convertible
debt calculated using the as-if- converted method; and (iii)
unvested restricted common stock subject to repurchase by»
the Company

Since the Company has incurred a net loss in all’
years presented, the calculation of diluted net loss per share

“excludes the followmg potential shares of common stock as -
.theLr effect on net loss per share is anti-dilutive:

' Year Endéd December 31,

, 2000 2002 2003

Stock options 12,795,786 . 1,579.258 831,714

Stock warrants 11,527 3.350 . —
2,807 313. - 831,714

1,582,608

(o) Exit and Dlsposal Activities

During 2003, the' Company closed its Chrcago and India
offices and downsized its operations in Portland, Maine and
London as part of its efforts to reduce operating expenses

“and consolidate its operations. ‘Total costs incurred in 2003

related to these exitand disposal activities amounted to $2.8

" million (see Note 11).

- (p) Comprehensnve lncome (Loss)

The Company’s comprehensrve net loss is compnsed of cur-
rency translation gains of $35,000 and $13,000 during 2002
and 2003, respectively, and a $5,000 loss in 2001 in addition
to the reported net losses.

(@) Income Taxes ,‘

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded for differences

. in the basis of assets and liabilities for book and tax purpos-

es and loss carry forwards based on enacted rates expected to
be in effect when these items reverse . Valuation allowances

- are'provided to the extent it is more likely than not that all or

a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.




{r) Stock Compensation Plans A
At December 31, 2003, the Comlpan‘y had four stock-based

- employee compensation plans, which are” described more

fully in Note 5.© The Company uses the intrinsic value

.method to méasure compensation expense associated with -
the grants of stock options or awards to _employees. The

Company accounts for stock options and awards to non-
employees using the fair value method. - ‘

Options terminate 10 years after grant and vest over -

, perlods set by the Board of Directors at the time of grant.
These vesting penods have generally been for four years, on
a ratable basis, except for the grants of non-qualified stock

options which have a more. accelerated vestmg per1od as'

. described below

(Amounts in thousands)

Under the intrinsic value method, compensation
associated with stock awards to employees is determined as
the excess, if any, of the current fair value of the underlying

., common stock’ on the measurement date over the price an

employee must pay to exercise the award. The measurement

" date for employee awards is generally the date of grant. Under

the fair value method, compensation associated with stock
awards to non-employees is determined based on the ‘estimat-
ed fair value of the award itself, measured using either current

“market data or an established option pricing model. The meas-
“urement date for non- employee awards is generally the date
that performance of certain services is complete

Had the Company used the fair value method to

Imeasure compensation related to stock awards to employees
- reported loss and loss per share would have been as follows:

- Year Ended December 31,

- ] 2001 2002 2003

Net loss, as reported o “ ‘ : T ($21,207) ($27.293)  ($39,491)
Add: Stock-based compensation recorded, net of taxes - ' ‘ 894 o189 1,505
Deduct: Pro forma stock- based compensatlon net of taxes (7,263) . (8,543) {4,759)
Pro forma net loss ($27.576)  ($35,647)  ($42,745)
Basic and diluted loss per share: S : . .

As reported . C L ($ 0.60) ($0.69) ~ ($0.98)

Pro forma ] ’ (30.79) (50.90) ($1.06)

In July 2003, the Company. granted to certain of its employ-

ees non-qualified stock options, which had an exercise price
that was below market value at the time of the grant. These

© options, Wthl'l were granted as a retention tool to employees :
. expected to remain ‘with I- -many subsequent to the proposed’

sale of the health and life science business to Neoforma (see
Note 12), will vest on March 31, 2004. The aggregate intrin-

sic value of these options totaling $1.5 million; less forfei7.
tures of $l'_/8 000, is being amonized ratably over the period

“from the date of grant to the vesting date and recorded as

compensation expense. Of this amount, $868,000 was rec- _

ognized in the year ended December 31, 2003 as compensa-
tion expense and $490,000 was recorded as deferred com-
' pensatlon in stockholders equtty at December 31,2003,

- In December 2003, the Company granted to certain

of its employees non-qualified stock options, Wthh had.

exercise prices that were below market value at the time of
the grants. " These options, which were granted in lieu of

year-end bonuses, vest 50% on February 9, 2004 and 50% on

or about February 7, 2005. The aggregate intrinsic value of .

~ these options totaling $2.6 million is being amortized ratably

over the period from the date of grant to the respective vest-

Of this

ing dates and recorded 'as.'compensation expense.
amount, $537,000 was recognized in the year ended

December 31, 2003 as compensation expense and $2.1 mil- -
* lion was recorded as deferred compensation in stockholders’
equity at December 31, 2003.

* Also in December 2003, the. Company granted to
certain of its employees non-qualified stock options, which

had exercise prices that were below market value at the time ,

of the grants. These options, which were granted as ‘a reten-
tion tool to those employees assigned to the health and life
science business and subsequently retained by.the Company
upon the cancellation of the Neoforma sale, will vest:50% on

.~ June 30, 2004 and 50% on December 31, 2004. The aggre-

gate intrinsic value:of these options totaling $1.2 million is

" being amortized ratably over the perlod from the date of
* grant to the respective: vesting dates and recorded as com-’
pensation expense. Of this amount, $41,000 was recognized
in the year'ended December 31, 2003 as compensation

expense and $1.1 million was recorded as deferred compen-

sation in stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2003.
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- The Company s calculatrons of the farr value of stock opt10ns were made using the Black Scholes opnon pricing model with
the following assumptions and resulted in the followmg We1ghted average fa1r value of opt1ons granted during the years ended

December 31 o

© 2001 o 2002 2003

Risk-free interest rates 45% - . 35% 3.2%
Volatility - 115% 100% 125%
Expected life : ' 7",years" 7 years 7 years
_ Weighted average fair value of opnons granted durmg the perlod $430 $2.04

$0.91°

In September 2003, the Company granted a total of 16 215 shares of restrlcted common stock to its non- employee d1rectors
The aggregate value. of these restricted shares, which vésted on February 5,2004, was approxrmately $16 000 at December 31,
2003. ‘Of this'amount, $12 000 was recorded in the year ended December 31,2003 as compensatron expense and $4 000 was
recorded as deferred compensat1on in stockholders equity at December 31, 2003 :

(s) Reclassmcatlons

- Certain amounts in the 2002 and 2001 consolrdated f1nanc1ali

statements were ‘reclassified to be consistent w1th the current
year presentat1on :

" (2) Acquisitions

Chi-Cor Information Management, Inc.
On November 16, 2000, the Company acquired in a merger .

transaction all of the outstanding cap'ital' stock of Chi-Cor

" Information Management, Inc: ("ChiCor") for an initial pur-
chase price of $13.5 million, which consisted of cash of $5.7

. million, a portion of which was used to pay off a $754 000

~ outstanding bank loan, 239,621 shares of Company common

stock with a fair’ value of $4.9 IIlllllOI'l assumed liabilities of
$2.5 mllllon and transactron costs of $458,000. In addmon'

~ based. upon “achievement against certain quarterly revenue
and income milestones through December 31; 2001, ‘the -

ChiCor 'shareholders received additional consideration of

»$3.5 'million consisting of $2.3 million in cash 'and 117,781

shares of Company common stock with a fair value as meas-

. ured at the’ respective quarter ends of $1.2 mrlhon The $3.5

million in additional consideration was treated as addrtronal

" purchase price and recorded as goodwill. The Company has-
- consolidated the operations of ChiCor beginning on the date _
* The Company Tretained an independent -

of acquisition.
apprarser for the” purpose of allocatmg the initial considera-

_ tion of $13.5 million to the tangrble and 1ntang1ble assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The. portion of the purchase‘_
" price -allocated to “in- -process “research and  development,
" totaling $2.4 mllllon was based ona nsk-adjusted cash flow
appraisal method and represents projects that had not yet -
reached technological feasibility. and had no, alternative -~

' future use. This portlon of the purchase price was expensed' -

upon consummation of the ChiCor acquisition.

+'In'the year ended December 3 1,2003, the Company;‘
Wrote off the un_amortized balances of goodwill and acquired
intangible assets, $8.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively,

“related to the ChiCor acquisition (see Note 10).

thage Software Inc P -
On January 25, 2001, the Company acquired all of the out-" -

_standing capital stock of Vintage Software, Inc. '("Vintage"),

a software company, which marketed a competing product to
the Company’s CARS software suite of products to‘mjdj

* market pharmaceutrcal companies. The aggregate purchase »
; prlce of $1.1 million included $433 000 of cash, 34,096 (
_shares of Company common stock with a fair value of
V$4OO,000‘, ‘earnout fees paid of $200,000, and transaction
costs of $98,000. The Company has consolidated the opera- 4

~ tions of Vintage beginnin’g on the date of-acquisition.

Intersoft Internat|onal Inc

On March 2, 2001, the Company acquired all of the out-
standing . capital stock “of Intersoft_ International, Inc'

("Intersoft"), a supplier of sales and marketmg automation
’ products for the foodservice .broker mdustry The initial
~ purchase pr1ce of $3.2 million  included $500,000 of cash,

115,732 shares of Company common stock with-a fair: value

“of $2.2 million, assumed liabilities of $411 000 and transac- ,

tion costs of $99,000. In addition, based upon achievement
against certain quarterly revenue and income milestones
through March 31, 2002, the Intersoft shareholders received -

" additional consideration of $83,000, consisting of 4,618

shares of Company ‘common stock with a fair market value

of $80, 000 and $3,000 in cash. The $83,000 in additional -

consideration was treated as addmonal purchase price and




recorded as goodwill."

" holders. - The' Company has consolidated the operatrons of
Intersoft beginning on the date of acquisition.
In the quarter ended Decembet 31, 2001

"~ Company wrote-down $895,000 of the carrying value of "

goodwill related to the Intersoft acquisition. .In the quarter
ended December 31, 2002, the Company wrote off the
unamortized_ balances of goodwill and acquired intangible

assets, $802,000 and $465,000, respectively (see Note 10). -

BCL Vlsuon Ltd.

On Apnl 9, 2001, the Company acqurred all of the outstand— N

ing capital stock of BCL Vision Ltd.. ("BCL " renamed

I-many International Limited), a provider of collection and
i dispute management_ software and services based in London,
England. The purchase price of $12.2 million consisted of -
cash-of $4.0 million, 685,084 shares of Company common. . . -
stock with a fairvalue of $6.8 million, assumed liabilities of
$870,000 and transaction costs of $500,000. The Company_ -

- has consolrdated the operations of BCL begmnrng on the
_ date of acquisition. The Company. retamed an 1ndependent

_appraiser for the purpose of allocating the consideration Lof .
approximately $12.2 millien to the tangible and mtang]ble'i
assets acqurred, ‘Based on this appraisal,.$952,000 was : .
allocated to tangible assets; $10.2 million was allocated to
goodwill and other intangible assets and $1.0 million was

allocated to in-process research and’ development The por-

- tion of the purchase price allocated to in- process’ research -
‘and development was determined based on a risk-adjusted
cash flow appraisal method and represents prOJects that had., -

not yet reached technological feas1b1l1ty and had no alterna-
“tive future use. This portion of . the purchase pnce was
expensed upon consummation of the BCL acqu1s1t10n

In 2003 the Company wrote off the unamonried o

balances of goodw1ll and acquired’ mtangrble assets $6.7
million and . $919,000, respectively, related o the BCL
acquisition (see Note lO) - . .

Provato Inc

‘ ~ On’ August 16, 2001, the Company acqurred in a merger

transaction all of the outstanding caprtal stock’ of Provato,
Inc. ("Provato"), a leading provider of contract management -

_ compliance solutions. The acquisition of Provato’ was’

intended to expand I-many’s trade relationship capabrlmes .

in additional industries and across 'the spectrum of contrac-

tually-based interactions. “The purchase price ‘of $16.8 mil-
~Tion consisted of 1,975,739 shares of the Company s com- ¢

mon stock valued at $11.2 million, a fully -vested warrant to

Effective March 31, 2002, no addi-
- tional consideration can.be earned by the Intersoft share- .~

“purchase 4,546 shares of the Company’s stock valued at

appr0x1mately $25, 000, the assumption of approximately
$2.1 million of liabilities, $1.7 million in convertible notes

'iss_ued by the Company to Provato during the two month
period immediately preceding the merger, and transaction

costs of $1.8 million, which. included approximately $12
million of Provato’s merger-related costs. The Company has
consolidated the operations of Provato beginning on the date
of acquisition.

acquired. Based on this appraisal, $870,000 was allocated to

tangible assets, $13.2 million was allocated to goodwill and .

other intangible assets and $2.7 million was allocated to in-
process research and development. The portion’ of the pur-

" chase price allocated to in-process research and development
was determined based on a risk-adjusted cash flow appraisal
method and represents projects that had not yet reached tech- -

nological feasibility and had no alternative future use.” This

’portionlof the purchase price was expensed upon consum-
* mation.of the Provato acqu1s1t10n

In the quarter ended December 31, 2002

© Company wrote off the unamomzed balances of goodwrll

and acquired 1ntang1ble assets, $6.5 million and $4.4 million,

- respectively, related tothe Provato acquisition (see Note 10).

B NetReturn, LLC
On March 12, 2002 the Company acquired- substantrally all -

the assets of NetRetum LLC ("NetReturn"), a Connecticut

. limited liability company located in Fairfield, Cohnecticut,
for an initial purchase price of $3.4 million. The primary.

asset'acquired was NetReturn’s vlibrary of software appliea-

" tions and tools, which represented an extension to I-many’s

contract compliance product offenngs to the pharmaceutical

“industry. The initial consideration consisted of $500,000 of
cash, 429,017 sharés of the Company’s common stock Wlt]’] a
fair value of $2.8 million and estimated transaction costs of .

© $134,000." The value of the 429,017 common shares iss_ued
. was determined based on an average closing market price of . -
I-many’s common shafes ending on the day immediately pre- .
ceding the date (March 11, 2002) the terms of the acquis‘itionv ‘

were agreed to. The Company has consolldated the operating

results of NetReturn beginning on'the date of acquisition.

In add1t10n upon achievement of certain revenue

. miléstones through March ‘ll, 2003, the NetReturn share- .

holders were entitled to additional consideration of up to $2.0

. million, payable in cash or common stock at the Company'’s

election. Based on the relevant cumulative revenue level

realized as of March 11, 2003, the Company ‘has recorded

The Company retained an independent -
-appraiser for the purpose of allocating the merger considera-
" tion of $16.8 million to the tangible and intangible assets




. Net assets acquired
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$l 0 million of additional consideration, which was recorded
as additional goodwrll Effective March 11, 2003, the terms

~ of the additional consideration had explred and no additional

consideration can be eamned by the NetReturn shareholders

The followmg table summarizes the estimated fair

values of ‘the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

“date of acquisition, mcludmg additional earnout considera-
.tion (amounts in thousands): ’

- Property and equipment . o ' 813
Other assets T . 3
Acquired intangible assets k ' . 2,250

- Goodwill - ' : o T 2,154
Total assets acquired o , L 4420
Less deferred revenue . ) 36

The $2.3 million of acquired intangible assets rep-
“resents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is _
~ being amortizéd- over a four-year life.

acquired mtangrble assets and goodwrll Was ass1gned to the
health and life sciences segment

Menerva Techholbgie‘s, _Inc. .

On March 28, 2002, the Company acquired, in a merger
transaction, all of the outstanding capital stock of Menerva
Technologres ‘Inc. ("Menerva"), a Delaware " corporation

Jocated in Redwood City, California, which markets buy-

side contract software solutions, for a purchase price of up to
$12.7 million. The ' Menerva acquisition provided the
Company with buy-side contracting capability to expand I-

' many’s' contract management offering. The initial consider-

ation of approximately $9.7 million consisted of cash of $2.4
million, 982,191 shares of the Company’s. common stock

with a fair value of $6.0 million, the assumption of fully-

vested stock options to purchase an aggregate of 25,743

. shares of Company stock valued at approximately $143,000,.

assumed liabilities of $792,000 and estimated transaction

+ costs of $4lO 000. The value of the 982,191 common shares
issued was determmed based on an average closing market o

price of I-many’s common shares ending on the day imme-
diately preceding the date (March 26, 2002) the terms of the

acquisition were agreed to. The Company has consolidated
the operating results of Menerva beginning on the date of
“acquisition. In addrtron upon achrevement of certain rev-
- enue milestones through March 31, 2003, none of which
" were realized, the former-Menerva shareholders were enti-

tled to additional consideration of up to $3.0 million, payable
in_ cash or common stock at the Company’s election..

~ Net assets acquired '

$4,384

The entire value of

The follmving table summarizes the estimated fair

. values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
- date of acquisition (amounts, in thousands): - ‘

Current assets S o ' 1 $102

’ Property and equrpment ’ . 144
Other assets . . L ' ' 34
Acquired intangible assets i - » 2,500
In-process research and development ‘ e . 1,000
Goodwill - - ) 5951

Total assets. acqurred ' i 9,731

Less current liabilities - . 792
' $8.939

- The $2.5 million of acquired intangible assets rep-
resents the fair value of the technology acquired, which is
being amiortized over a four-year life. The value of acquired
intangible assets and goodwill was not assigned to any par-

ticular segment since the extent to which each segment will ’

benefit from the technology is not readily determinable. The
Company does not expect to deduct any portion of the good-

- will for tax purposes.

The portion of the purchase price allocated to in-
process research and development, totaling $1.0 million, was

‘expensed upon consummation of the Menerva acquisition.

This allocation was attributable to one in-process research -
and development project,. which consisted of the develop-

" ment of significant new features and functionality to an exist-

ing software product, Menerva had achieved significant tech-

- nological milestones on the project as of the acquisition date,

but the project hadnot reached technological feasibility.
" The value of the purchased in-process research and

- development was computed using a discount rate of 30% on
~ the projected incremental revenue stream of the product

enhancements, net of antrcrpated costs and expenses. The

" .30% discount rate was denved based on the Company’s esti- - -
mated weighted average cost of capital as adjusted to reflect” - -

the additional risk inherent in product development The dis-

~ counted cash flows were based on. management s forecast of

future revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses
related to the products and technologies purchased from
Menerva. The determined value was then adjusted to-reflect
only the. value creation efforts of Menerva prior to the close
of the acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the prolect :
was -approximately 60% complete. The Company invested

"an additional $350,000 in the project following acquisition.

The project’s development progressed, in.'all material
respects, consistently’ with the ' assumptions that the
Company had used for estimating its fair value. The project

-was subsequently completed in May 2002.




Pro Forma Information

" The following unaudited pro forma information summarizes
the effect of the NetReturn and Menerva acquisitions; as if -
the acquisitions had occurred as of January 1, 2002: This pro

forma information is presented for informational purposes

only. It is based on historical information and does not pur- ..

_port to represent the actual results that may have occurred
had the Company consummated the acqulsrtrons on January

1, 2002, nor is it necessarily indicative of future results of -
operatrons of the combined enterprrses Pro forma results are -

in thousands of dollars, except per share, data

Year Ended
. - December 31,
(Unaudited) 2002
Pro forma revenues. . $54,805
Pro forma net loss ‘ -${28,140)
Pro forma net loss per share -

$ (©70)

Short-term Investments '

3) Details of Fihancﬁaﬂ Statement Gomponents

Property and Equipment, net

The' cost and accumulated depreciation of property and
equipment consist of the following at December 31:

2002

(Amounts in thousands)
~ Computer software $2,572 $2,620
~-Computer hardware 5,563 4,710
Furniture and equipment 2,110 1,852
Leasehold improvements 385 499
CE ‘ 10,630 9,683
Less—accumulatéd depreciation B :
“and amortization . - 7,192 7,814
. Total property and equipment, net $3.438 $1,879

Depreciatroh ‘expen'se, excluding $1.7 million in’
amortization of the Company’s Internet portal which was

- abandoned in 2001 (see Note 11), was approximately $2.3
mrlhon $2.4 million and $1.8 million for the years ended

" ‘December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

. Short-term 1nvestments consisted of the followmg at December 31 2003

Unrealized

. 'Arﬁonized Unrealized o
(Amounts in thousands) Cost Gains Losses " Fair Value
US Government agency security $1.000 C$— : $— $1.000 ..
Corporate bond. ‘ : . 1019 - - — 1,019

* . Totals

' Other Acqunred Intanglble Assets Net

$2,019 . $— o $—. $2,019

: The Oross carrylng value and accumulated amortrzauon of other acqurred 1ntang1ble assets consrst of the followmg

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2003

Gross Gross :
* Carrying- © Accumulated Carrying Accumulated -
(Amounts in thousands) * Amount Amortization . - Amount Amortization .
Acquired technology - $9,703 _ $3.381 $5,303 $2.481
Other acquired intangibles assets . 1200 C 694 L= —
" Totals ' ’ ‘ $5,303

Amortization expense for acquired technology and

other acquired intangible assets was $2.4 million, $5.0 mil-

lion and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31,

2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

$10,903 $4.075 $2.481

Acquired intangible assets are being amortized over
a four-year life. Projected future annual amortization'is as

" follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): ‘

2004 $1326
2005 1,199
2006 © 297

2005

p

2.
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.Accrued Expenses /

- Accrued expenses consist of the following at.Décember 3

(Amounts in thousands) - - 12002 - 2003
Accrued payroll and ‘benefits . V$4,442 $2,543
Accrued commissions | 1476 - 897
Earnout consideration - S 1,000 -
Accrued lease loss costs - . 664 . . 645 '
Accrued other g 620 - 868
Accrued consulting and professional fees - 600 1,036
Total accrued expenses ° $5,989

$8.502

"{4) Strategic Relationship Agreemennts

The Procter & Gamble Company

In May-2000, the Company entered into a ten-year Strategic
Relationship Agreement (the "Initial P&G Agreement") with
The Procter & Gamble Company ('"P&G"), pursuant to
which P&G designated the Company as its exclusive

provrder of purchase confract management software for its -

commercial products’ group fora period of three years. In

" .addition, P&G has agreed to provide the Company with cer-

tain strategic marketing and business development services

over the term of the P&G Agreement. P&G also entered into.
an agreement to license certain software and technology

from the Company

As consideration for entermg mto the Initial P&G. :
Agreement, the Company granted to P&G a ful]y exercisable -
" 'warrant to’ purchase 875,000 shares of common stock (see
- Note 5(f)). In addition, the Company had agreed to pay P&G

a royalty of up to 10% of the revenue generated from the
commercral products market, as deﬁned As of December

31, 2002, no such Joyaltres had been earned or paid. In-
* February 2003, the In‘itialh P&G Agreement was amended to
delete - the royalty provision, in exchange for which the
Company granted to P&G a fully exercisable warrant to pur- “

chase 1,000 OOO sharés of the Company s common stock

‘(see Note 5(f)).

Accenture : S

In " April 2001, the Company entered into 'a Marketing
~ Alliance Agreement (the " Accenture Agreement") with
Accenture LLP, pursuant to which Accenture designated the
Company as its preferred provider of automated contract
~rnanagement solutions for a period of at least three years. In
addition, Accenture agreed to provide the Company with.

certain strategic marketing and business development servic-
es at no charge over the term of the Accenture Agreernent
+/As consideration for .entering into the Accenture

.. Agreement, the Company has desrgnated Accenture as its
- preferred business integration provider for the Company’s

CARS suite of products In addition, the Company granted

© to Accenture a fully exercisable warrant to purchase 124,856

shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note S(D). To

- date, the Company has, not recognized any revenue as a

direct result of the Accenture Agreement.
615) Sﬁockhoﬂdere“’ Equity

(@) Authorlzed Capital

The Company has authorized caprtal stock of 105 OOO 000
shares, of which 100,000,000 shares are de51gnated as-com-’
mon stock, $0.000,1_ par value per share, and 5,000,000

shares were designated for preferred stock, $0.01 par value

per share. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, the Company
had reserved 12,741,673 and 18 /708,128, respectively,
shares of common stock for Issuance upon the exercise of
stock opt1ons and warrants.

(b) Private Placement

On February 20, 2002, the Company completed a private -

~ placement of its common stock and preferred stock, issuing
1,100,413 shares of its common stock and the warrants;

described below at a total price of $7 27 per common share .
and 1,700 shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock

at a purchase price of $10',000'per share. The Company

“received proceeds of approximately $7.4 million, net of

commissions and other fees, from the sale of the common -
stock and warrants. -Proceeds of $17.0 million related to the
issuance of preferred stock were held in escrow pending con-
version or redemption of the shares of preferred stock, and
the proceeds were recorded as restricted cash. On July 2,
2002, the Comipany redeemed at its election all 1,700 out-"
standing shares of the redeemable convertible preferred

“stock-at a price equal to the or1g1na1 $17.0 million purchase

price, plus accrued interest.
The warrants issued by the Company to the com-

": mon stock investors consisted of a warrant exerc1sable for

180 days after the closing to purchase up .to' anradditionald
165 062 shares at an exercise price of $7.27 per share (which .
has since expired) and a seven-year warrant to purchase up
to an additional 165,062 shares at an exerc1se prlce of $7.50

per share.




(c) Resmssmn of Stock Grant

On February 1, 2002, the Company granted 100,000 shares .
of its unrestricted common stook to its chief executive offi- .

cer, Mr. Powell, as a bonus pursuant to the terms of his
“amended -employment agreement.
Company and Mr. Powell agreed to rescind this grant.

(d) Stock Incentive Plans

In March 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Non-

Employee Director Stopk Option Plan, which provides for
the grant of up to 562,500 shares of common stock in the
form of nonqualified stock options to directors who are not

employees. = Each' non:employee director. is granted an

‘option to purchase 62,500 shares of oommon stock upon ini-.

tial election or appointment to the board. In addition, each
non-employee director receives an option to purchase 25,000
shares of common stock on the date of each annual’ meetmg
of stockholders. .

In April 2001, the Company adopted the 2001.

Employee Stock Option Plan, which provides for the grant
of up to 1,000,000 shares of common stock in the: form of
nonqualified stock options. “All of the Company’s officers,
employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligiblo‘to

In December 2002, the

In June 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Stock

Incentive Plan, which provides .for ‘the grant of up to -

5,000,000 shares of common stock in the form of incentive

stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock '

awards and other stock-based awards.” In addition, if any

previous award under the 200 1 Stock Incentive Plan or other

" option pians of the Company expires or is terminated,

surrendered or cancelled without having been fully exer-
cised, the unissued shares covered by any such award shall
be available for grant under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.
All of the Company’s officers, employees, directors, con-

sultants and advisors are eligible to receive awards under the -

2001 Stock Incentive Plan. .

N In June 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stock '
Incentive Plan, yvhrch provides for the grant of up to 5,000,000

shares of common stock in the form of incentive stock
options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards
and other stock-based awards. All of the Company’s officers,

. employees, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to

receive awards under the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan.

The followmg table summarizes total common shares
_available for future option grants at December 31, 2003:

2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

Exercisable, December 31, 2003

receive awards under the 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan, 2001 Employee Stock Option Plan 1?;3;22
with not more than 25,000 shares to be issued in the aggre- 2001 and 2003 Stock Incentive Plans 1,826,073
. gate to officers or directors of the Company ** Total available for future grant m
The following table summarizes stock optlon actlvny under all of the Company s stock incentive plans:
) Number of - Weighted Average
Shares - Exercise Price
Balance, January 1, 2001 - 5,284,984 $5.731
Granted 6,291,854 ’ 5789
Exercised - " (1,206,991) ’ 2.549 -
Canceled (1,660,505) 7.450
Balance, December 31,2001 . 8,709,342 5.841
Granted ' 2,865,171 ' 3469
Exercised | (483.868) 3415
Canceled - (2,112 985) - 7.601
"Balance, December 31,2002 8,977,660 4.800
Granted ' 8248064 0318 -
Exercised (43,168) 0821
Canceled (3933.986) 4366
Balance, December 31, 2003 13,248,570 $2.144
Exercisable, December 31, 2001 1,380,730 $6.692
Exercisable, December 31, 2002 2,676,675 -$5.827
3,516,576

$5.047
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We1ghted average price and life information ‘about s1gn1f1cant option groups outstandmg and exermsable as'of .
December 31 2003 i is as follows

Options Exercisable

Options Outstanding o

Weighted. E

. ) Weighted _ Average S Weighted
Number of- . ~ Average ‘Remaining Number of 'Average '
Range of Options 'Exercise Price * Contractual .. Options " ‘Exercise Price
Exercise Prices- Outstanding ' Per Share - ‘Life (years) . Exercisable’ - ~ Per Share
$0.016 -.50.270 - © 7,390,677 30243 - ,9.86 1979 -$0.016
0.690 = 1.710 1453645 1234 - 8.41 437,526 1:269
41._960—3.030’. 2526482 - 2392 c 686 -1,854,847 ‘ T 2531
"+ 3.800 - 6.450 549318 4439 - - 6.83. 360,726 - . 4316
7.180 - 11750 546,160 | 9768 7.25 325,395 . 10208
13.375 - 18.500 782,288 . 14,049 - 7.02 536,103 (142137
‘ ' - $2.144

13248570

873 3,516,576 T $5.047

(e) Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In March 2000, the .Company adopted the 2000 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan. The 2000 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 1,250,000 shares of -

common stock to pamcrpanng employees at 85% .of the clos-

ing price of the common stock on the first day or last day of -
each "offering period, whichever is lower. The followmg J
table summarizes the number of shares and per share prices
for purchases since lanuary 1, 20’01 ' '

J

Number of

, shares Price
June 2001 9.177 - $11.794°
" Decémber 2001 12,709 6885
June 2002 18479 3.672
December 2002 29901 - 2440
June 2003 46,140 1.250
December 2003 68022

0.800 °

. (f) Warrants
. At December 31, 2002 and 2003 the Company had warrants ’

outstanding at exercise prices rangmg from $7.50 to $l3 20 '

s descnbed below.

“In May 2000, the Company granted t6 P&G a fully
exercrsable warrant to purchase 875,000 shares of ‘common

~ stock as. consideration for entering into a strategicrelation-
. ship agreement as more fully described in Note 4. The. war-
1 rant, which Was exercisable for a. perlod of two years at an’
_exercise prrce of .$9. 00 per _share, was converted into

561,960 shares of common stock via d cashless exercise dur-l
ing 2000. ' N

Company’s common stock. The warrant is exercisable for a

. - In April 2001, the Company granted to Accenture a
- fully exercisable warran fo purchase 124, 856 shares of the.

.\ period of'.th‘ree years at an exercise'price of $9.725 per share..

.esto Accenture s clients and prospects.
" warrants have. been earned or paid. .

In addltlon the: Company has agreed to ‘grant Accenture
addrtronal future warrants, each with a value equal to 10% of
any revenues generated ‘from certain future software licens-
To da'te,' no such

~ Using the Black- Scholes optlon pricing model and,
based upon an exercise prrce of $9.725 per.share and a

~ volatility factor of 104. 6%, the Company calculated the fair

value of the fully exercisable warrant to. purchase 124 856-
shares of common stock as $800,000. This amount was

" recorded by the Company in 2001 as a component of sales.

~‘and marketing expense. The Company will calculate and
" record the fair value of the warrants to purchase additional ‘

. shares of common stock as revenues from certain future soft-_

ware licenses to Accenture’s clients. and prospects are gener-
ated as set forth in the Agreement. - .
" In August 2001, the Company acquired i in a merger

 transaction all of the outstanding capital stock of Provato,

Inc. As part of this transaction, the purchase price included. -
a warrant to purchase 4, 546-shares of the Company’s stock
at an exercise price of $13.20. Thrs warrant was valued
at approxrmately $25 000 using .the Black-Scholes- option

" pricing model.

In February 2003, the Company granted to P&Ga -

fully exermsable warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the

Company s common stock. The warrant is exercisable fora

period of three years at an exercise price of $1.20 per share.
-Using‘the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! and based upon

‘ ‘an_ exercise price of $1.20 per share,-a current stock market
~value of $1.11 per share and a volatility factor of 125%, the

Company calculated the fair value of the fully exercisable

“ warrant to purchase 1;000000- shares of common stock as

$795 000. This amount was recorded by the Company in 2003
»as a component of sales and marketmg expense




{6) Income Taxes

There was no provision for income taxes recorded or income -

taxes paid in the years endéd December 31,2001, 2002 and

- 2003. " At December 31, 2003, the Company had approxi- _’

mately $101 million of U.S. federal net operating loss carry-
forwards and research and development carryforwards of
$3.6 million. The federal net operating loss -carryforwards
expire in the years 2008 through 2023 and are sUbject’to cer-

tain annual limitations. The federal research and develop- -

'ment carryforwards explre in the years 2006 through 2023

Due to the uncertamty surroundmg the Company s abrhty to \

realize these NOL's, tax credits and 1ts other deferred tax
~ assets, a full valuatron allowance has been placed agamst the
otherw15e recogmzable net deferred tax asset.

The approximate income tax effect of each type of

. temporary drfference and carryforward is as follows

L

December 31 ‘
2003

. (Amounts in thousands) = - . . 2002

Federal net operatjng loss carryforwards  $29,160 .~ _$34,253~ )
State net operating loss carryforwards 3,125 ~‘ 4,185
R‘esearch‘ and development tax eredits 3,106 3,550
Deferred revenue S R 1,362 - 2,687
Allowance for doubtfulaccounts - <390 80"
Other =~ - ey . 882 .
Less — Valuation allowance v . I v
for deferred tax assets. . (37,122, - (45,437}
. Net deferred tax assefs I

A reconc1hatron of the U.S. federal statutory rate L

the effectlve rate is as follows
 Year Ended December ,31,
2001 - . 2002
© (34.0)%

Federal statutory rate

Research and development -

tax credits - ’ = ‘ A(v2.6) ('i]ﬁ)k

StatetaXes net of . L . -
federal benefit . (2.2) (5:3) 53)
* Amortization of goodwﬂl ' A '
and acquired intangible assets S . 35 1]5 S
In-process research o v . |
and development ‘ 62 .12 . o— B
I'rripairment of-intangibles- ‘ — R 15,.2.4 19.8

Other | 48 03 06

Valuatron allowance for o
deferred tax asset - . 141 197 12.0

Provision for income taxes =% =% =%

" 5003
C(B40Y% (34.0)%

The increase in the valuation allowance during

2003 resu1ts prihcipally from additional deferred tax assets

arising from the Company’s 2003 net loss, approximately
$20 million, and additional deferred tax assets associated

- with changes in the Company’s estimates of net operating
“loss and tax credit carryforwards Under the termis of certain

of the Company’s merger agreements the Company" has

: agreed to not.take any action that could violate the tax-free

merger status of these mergers. -In the event that tax author-

ities determine that a merger no longer qualifies as a tax-free .

eiéhang‘e, the Company may be required to reimburse the

_selling party to the merger for any additional taxes that may
. be imposed on the selling party. In such a circumstance, the

Conipany would receive addmonal tax basis in the assets
' acqurred in the merger

m Commﬁt,ments amd Contingencies

The C'orhpany leases its - facilities under operating lease

agreements-and certainof its equipment under noncancelable - -
- capital and operating lease agreements through 2011. Future )
" minimum lease commitments under all noncancelable leases

at December 31, 2003 are approximately as follows:

Opetating

. (Amounts in thousanda) ' Leases Leases
“Year ending December 31, .
‘ 2004 . $2305 C §$734
2005 1626 135
2006 1602 I
. 2007 1575 =
2008 1492 —
 Thereafter 2,854 e
- Total minimum lease payments ) 11,454 869 |
Less—Amount representing‘interest ' : _l
Present Value.‘of minimum
lease payrhents Co . ‘ : t . 837
: Lesfs'—Currerit portion of v
. capital lease obligations o ‘ o 709
Capital lease obligations, '
et of current portion L o $128

Capital

_ e
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. Included in property and equipment are assets pur-
suant to capital lease arrangements as follows at December 31:

(Amounts in thousands). - 200 ‘ 2003

.Property and Equipment: [ ‘ - ’ .

Computer software R $153 . 8325
Computer hardware S o 517 818 l
Furniture and equipment - 1323 392

Lea'sehokld improvements ' 49 - 62

| ' - 1042, . 1,597

- Less—Accumulated . L ,

depreciation and amortization © . 274 - 666

$768 iy

Total rent expense yyasapproximately $1.4 million, ’

$1.8 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December
31,2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
The Company is often involved in contractual dis-

putes, litigation and potent1a1 claims arising in the ordinary '
-course of business. The Company does not believe that the .
~resolution of thése matters will have a material adverse

effect on the Company's financial position or results of oper-

-ations. The'Company is not a party to any materral pendmg'
'1ega1 proceedmgs

~ Health and -

- (8 Segment Duscﬂosur@

On January 1, 2003 the Company realigned its busmess seg-
ments from life sciences, consumer packaged goods & food
services and other to life sciences (renamed health and life
sciences) and other industries. These new segments are con-
sistent with ho}v management establishes strategic goals,

“allocates resources-and evaluates performance.

The Company measures operating results as two
reportable segments, each of which provide. multiple prod--
ucts and servicés that allow manufacturers, purchasers and
1ntermed1ar1es to manage their complex contracts for the
purchase and sale of goods. The accounting polrcres of the

‘segments are the same as those described in the summary of
- significant accounting policies. The Company’s reportable”

segments are strategic business units that market to separate
and distinct mdustry groups: (i) health and life sciences,
whrch includes pharmaceutlcal manufacturers, and ‘(i) all

other industries. The following tables reflect the results of

" the segments consistent with the Company’s management
“system. All.amounts are in thousands of dollars.

" Other "

(Amounts in thousands) " Life Sciences Indistries . Unallocated Totals
At and for the year ended December 31, 2003: o ; -
Net revenues - $26,031 $13,381 ) : $ - $39,412
Depreciation and amortization - 2058 N o 1151 , 625 ‘ -3‘8-34
Segment loss (9,883) ° (28983 - -(625) » (39 491)
. Segment assets ‘ 35,345 6,867 K » ) 7,'35'7 49 569
Expenditures for seument assets - ' -- - ’ -- -
Goodwill , : 2,580 e 5951 8,531
Atand for the year ended December 31 2002: . ) _

. Net revenues : , $37.483 $17263 © - § - '$54,746
Depreciation and amortization . CoL 2,235. 2434 ' ‘ 2,735 B 7,404
Segment loss ‘ (5429) - (6,093) (15 771) (27,293)
Segmeiit assets 55455 21127 7982 84,564
Expenditures for segment assets o C . 138 " 58 : - . 196
Goodwill - o | 2580. 14767 5951 . 23298

For the ‘yea-r ended December 31, 2001: ) o .

 Net revenues L sa349 $14018 - - $ - $57,767 -
Depreciation and amortization ) 4,101 6,003 ‘ : N 677 10,781 -
Segment loss (8,53>8) . (9.,292) 3377 (21,207

Expendrtures for segment assets L ’ B 1,585 °

237 . - C 1822



Unallocated amounts consist of goodwill and acquired intangible asset values and related amortization amounts with

respect to the acquisitions of Provato and Menerva and the technology purchase from Ozro, Inc.

Intersegment revenues,

interest revenue, interest expense, other significant noncash items, equity in.the net income of investees accounted for by the

equity method; income tax expense or benefit, and unusual items that are attributable to the segments do not have a 51gn1f1cant

effect on the financial results of the segments

. Geographic Information:

o . Revenue* . - Long-lived Assets
. ‘ 2001 2002 2003 2001 2002 2003

(Dollar amounts in thousands) o ‘ :
United States _ 98% 94% 23% . $32,514 - $26,369 $13,575 .
United Kingdom - 2% 6% 5% . Coe 8,505 7835 1258
Canada o ' **i : ok 2% - - — —_
India - ** ' o i - — 106
Other ¥ Lk i — — —
| Total 100% 100% 100% $41019 $34,204 $13,939
* Revenues are attributed to countnes based o location of customer.

*k Revenues were less than 1%.

(9) Valuation and @uaﬂﬁfyﬁng Aceoums\ ‘

A rollforward of .the Companys allowance for doubtful
accounts is as follows s

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2001
Provisions o ) ’ 100
Write-offs ) . . . _’ ‘ . ﬁ
Balance at December«31, 2001 - ) - ' 831,
Provisions ' o ; - ‘ 970
Wr]te offs ‘ ) _ (4109
Balance at December 31,2002 1391°
Provisions - o R - 169
‘Write-offs | (985)
Currency translation adju‘stme'nts . S ' 13 |
Balance at December 31, 2003

(10) Impairment of Goodwill and ‘Acquired

Intangible Asse&s
In the quarter ended June 30, 2003,  the Company determmed
that an interim test for impairment of the Company’ s good-

will and other acquired intangible assets was necessary due

to the decision to proceed with the proposed sale of - Certain
assets of its health and life sciences business to a subsidiary
of Neoforma (see Note 12). Concurrent with the proposed

$766°

' $588

Neoforma Transaction, the Company made plans to reduce
its workforce and focus its near-term development efforts

) _primarily on its product offerings in the Enterprise Contract

Management market. The focus on new-platforms, products
and technologies prompted .the Company to evaluate the

technologies originally acquired in the acquisitions of
- ChiCor and BCL,'and the corresponding reduction in pro-
- jected sales of the related products.resulted in the determina- ’
tion that future cash flows are not sufficient to support the -

valuations of the ChiCor and BCL long-lived assets. As a
result of its assessment, the Company recorded impairment

charges of $9.2 million and $7.6 million, respectively, asso-

ciated with its acquisitions of ChiCor and BCL. These
impairment charges were recorded in the other industries
reportable segment and included impairment of goodwill

" -totaling $14.8 million and of acquired intangible assets
- totaling $2.0 million. - )

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company
determined that an interim test for impairment to the
Company’s goodwill and acquired intangible assets was nec-
essary as a result of the Company’s continuing operating
losses. Further, as a result of the Company’s 'plans to align
its strategles to the expected software marketplace, the
Company determined that certain long-lived . assets would
not be employed to generate future cash flow. As a result of
its assessment, the Company recorded impairment charges

of $10.9 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively,




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS (Cond)

‘ associated with its acqu1s1t10ns of Provato and Intersoft and .
its November 2001 technology purchase from Ozro, Inc-
' ("Ozro"). The 1mpa1rment charge related to: Intersoft was
‘recorded in the other mdtlstnes ‘business segment’ The
impairment charges related to Provato and Ozro v'v_ere'not
vincluded'in.a.reportable segment (see Note S). In the cases
of Provato and Ozro, the values of goodwill'and acqhired ‘
inta‘ngible‘ assets were' fully written off based np_on the. -
Company’s determination that it was no ‘longer likely to use:

the technologies it ac'quired and consequently, the‘ fair value

of these assets became .impaired With respect to Intersoft, '
. the Company determined that the fair value of the Intersoft’
operatron was negatrvely impacted by the operatron s con-
_ tinued mabrllty to generate positive cashflows. Accordrngly,
" the full remamrng value of Intersoft’s goodwrll and acqurred'z ’
- intangible assets’ was wrrtten off

Durrng 2001, the Company recorded an 1mpa1rment "
_charge of $895 OOO related to the carryrng value of .
‘ Intersoft s goodwrll ' -

3 '((‘J?lb Hestrueturlng and Other Charges

l_n March 2003, the Company took-actions ~to re'duce,its Oper-

" . ating expenses in order to better align its cost structure with

projected‘revenues These actions included the closing of its

1.‘Ch1cago Illinois office. With respect to its decision to close

its Chlcago office, the Company determined the fair value- of
the remarmng liability (net of estrmated sublease rentals) on

its Chicago office lease at the'cease- -use~date in late March

2003. In the year ended Decemher 31,2003, the Company
has incurred charges of approxrmately $1.8 mrllron related to
the Chrcago office closmg

In the quarter ended June 30 2003 ‘the Company
reduced its workforce in its London office and made plans to N
~ vacate its leased ‘space in India. The Company recorded an‘
‘impairment loss of . $106,000 with’ respect to property and
:equrpment it expects to dispose of pursuant to’ the London

downsizing and India office _c'losing. In addition, the Company

*- has incurred $97,000 in charges,_represeriting the discounted
value of the. remaining lease "paymentS* for the-leased office

epace in'India, in the year ended December 31, 2003.
" " As part of additional efforts to streamline opera-

tions and in connection with ‘the proposed Neoforma .

Transaction (see Note 12), the Company incurred severance
costs of $555, 000 for employees that were terminated durmg

the six-month perrod ended December 31,2003. Additional .
restructuring charges are expected to be recognrzed durrng ‘

the first quarter of 2004 as follows: (i) severance costs will

be récorded as the employment of additional‘employees is |
tenninated and (ii) costs associated. with future obligations
for. some of the Company s Teased office space in Portland,

’ Mame and London ‘will be recorded on the actual’ cease use

date of the facilities at the discounted value of the remamrng

N "_lease payments. The net result of the workforce restructur-.
ing was a reductlon in the Company s headcount from 298 at
~ June 30,2003 to 198 at December 31, 2003. ‘

In the quarter ended March 31, 2003, the Company”

‘ recorded impairment losses of $207,000 with respect to prop-

erty and equipment that was no longer in productrve use.
" In the ‘quarter ended September 30, 2002, the

_Company recorded as an Other charge $780 000 represent-
' prng the write-off of the entire het carrying value of its 1nvest-

ment in, Trbersoft Corporatron ar privately-held technology .

‘company.. The write-off was predrcated on the Company’s

determination  that the likelihood of Tibersoft’s ability to
raise equity financing, if at all, with terms that would not sig-

_ nrfrcantly dilute the Company’s liquidation preference in
vTrbersoft $ assets was. unlrkely

‘ In the quarter ended September 30, 2001,
Company recorded a $3.0 million charge in connection wrth
a restructuring of the Company’s operations and’the aban-
Included in the
$3.0 million char‘ge was $2.4 million, which was the net car-

donment of its proprietary 1nternet portal. -

rying value of the Company’s internet portal, $540,000 in
severance costs, and $108,00Q in:facility lease‘ costs. -In
abandoning its internet portal, the Company had ceased all

. support» of the portal site; discontinued all related develop-

ment, and eliminated or reassigned allpersonnel p’revionsly
assigned to the project. The balance of the seyer'ance_ and

-related charges -were incurred in association with the

Company’s decision to restructure certain of its operations-in
order to improve workforce efficiencies..

. In the quarter ended December 31, ZOOl, the
Company. recorded $813,000-in charges in connection with
the closing of its Oakland, California office! Included in this

. ‘amount was $368, 000 in severance costs and $445 000 ‘in
facility lease and related costs.

<




A rrollforward~ of the Company’s iaccrued liability
for restructuring and other charges is as follows:

Employee

L;éasc«costs
ngerance and asset Lo
(Amounts in thousands) Costs irﬁpairmems " Total
Balance at January 1,- 2001 $— s — | $—
Restructuring provisions R P
in.2001 908 553 ‘6,46‘3
" Payments in 2001 S6S1y (39 - (880) .
 Balance at December 31,2001 257 S 514 7L
Payments in.2002 s G4 - @77
‘Balance at December 31 . 2002 $= . $s— | $—
Restructuring provisions B
in 2003 T 5550 . 2051 . 2,606
Other property and equipment Lo : : S ' o
impairments in 2003 . — 207 . 207
Payments in 2003 (439) . (496) .. (935)
Asset'\;/ﬁte-downs - = (367) (387) '
© Balance at December 31,2003 -$ 116. * °$ 1,39'5. .$‘ﬂ,5‘H
Current portion — included in accrued expenses $ 534

. Noncurrent portion

— included in other lorig-term liabilities = $ 977

(12) Termination of Agreement -ﬂ;o Sell H_eallth And

Life Sciences Assets

On July 18, 2003, the: Company entered mto a definitive -
. asset purchase agreement to sell substantially all the assets of .

its health and life sciences business including 'in force

license contracts and intellectual property, to a subsidiary of .. -
Neoforma Inc. (' Neoforma”) for a purchase prlce of up 0
$25.0 million. On December 1, 2003_ Neoforma notified the = -

Company that it had terminated the proposed asset purchase
agreement, by exercising its right to terminate the trahséc-

tion” after the proposed acquisition did not close by

-November. 30, 2003..

Neoforma vaUISltlon the Company identified appr0x1mate- ) ’
" 1y 45 staff positions to be ehmmated ‘which were in addmon L

to the employee terminations that had been camed out as
part of the Company’s prev10us restructuring efforts during

- ] i the second half of 2003 (see Note 11),

Following the termination of the

" (13) Employee Benefit Plan

" The Company sponsors a401(k) defined contribution plan as

a retirement plan for its qualifying employees. Prior to
October 2003, the Company provided a discretionary match-
ing contribution. ‘The matching contributions paid by the

Compariy amounted to $477,000 in 2001, $922,000 in 2002

~and $441,000 in 2003.

(14) Subsequem Event

"On February 19, 2004, the Company entered into a merger

agreement to acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of

~ Pricing Analytics, Inc. ("Pricing Analytics"), a California
" corporation located in Redwood City, California, which mar-

kets software used to,eValuate-pricing- strategies, for a pur-

chase price of $1.0 million. In addition, upon achievement -
_of certain revenue milestones through December 31, 2004,
" the former Pncmg Analyt1cs shareholders will be entitled to

additional consideration of up to $1.8 million, payable in

".cash’ or. common stock at the Company’s election. . The
- Company will assume Pricing‘ Analytics’s liabilities of '
approximately $15,000 and expects to iricur transaction costs .
, N of approximately $40,000. The Pricing Analytics acquisition
) will provide the Company with technology that will enhance
, the Company’s product offerings to both its pharmaceutical.

" manufacturing clients and its industry solutions clients.

The merger agreement requires the Company to pay

" the purchase price in the form of- approximately 668,000

shares of its common stock, with resale registration rights.

The Company and Pricing Analytics are currently negotiat- -
ing an amendment to the merger agreement to replace the

payment of stock consideration with cash consideration, and

the terms thereof. The Company expects this transactlon to”
‘ be closed before the end of April 2004.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

- -many, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying . consolidated

-balance sheets of I-many, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and

subsidiaries (the ”Company“) as of December 31, 2002 and
2003, and the related consolidated statements. of operations,
redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’.equity‘, and
cash flows for the &'ears then ended. These financial state-

“ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial
statements based on our audits‘. The financial statements for

the year ended December 31, 2001, before the inclusion of
thie disclosures and the reclassifications discussed in Notes 1
and 8 to the financial statements, were audited by other audi-

tors who had ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their -
report dated January 24, 2002 (except. for the matters dis-

cussed in Note 13, as to which the dates were February 20,

-2002 and March 12, 2002). . '
 We conducted our audits in accordance with audrtmg
standards generally accepted in the United States of America.: .

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. ‘An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence. supporting the amounts.

' ‘An audit also

and disclosures in the financial statements. -
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-

- cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 and 2003 consohdated,
~ financial statements _present fairly, in all material respects, '

the financial position of I-many, Inc. and subsrdrarres at

- December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the results of their opera-

tions and their cash flows for the years then ended, in con-

formity with accounting principles generally accepted i in the‘

United States of America.
" As discussed above, the frnancral statements of the
Company for the year ended December 31,2001 were audit-

“ed by other auditors who had ceased operations. As
‘described in Note 1, these financial statements have been
revised- to include the transitional disclosures required by

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No.
142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, which was
adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. Our audit
procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 1 with

respect to-2001 included (1) comparing the previously

reported net loss to the previously issued financial state-

ments and the adjustments to reported net loss représenting -
amortization expense (including any related tax effects) rec- -

' ‘og‘nized in 2001 related to good‘will‘,as a result of initially

applying SFAS No. 142 (including any related tax effects) to
the Co’mpany’s_underlying_ analysis obtained from manage-
ment, and (2) testing"th‘e mathematical accuracy of the rec- -
onciliation of adjusted net loss to reported net loss and the
related lo_ss-per-share‘ amounts. In our opinion, the disclo-

* sures for 2001 in Note 1 are appropriate.

- As further described in Note 1, the financial state-
ments of the Company for the .year ended December 31,

2001 have been reclassified to give effect to Emerging Issues
. Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 01-14, "Income Statement

Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of- ]
Pocket” Expenses Incurred”, which was .adopted by the .

. Company on January 1, 2002. We audited the reclassifica-
. tion described in Note 1 that was applied to conform the
2001 frnancral statements to the comparative presentation

requrred by EITF Issue’ No. 01-14. Our audit Jprocedures

~ with respect to the 2001 drsclosures in Noté 1 included. (1)

comparing the amounts shown as service revenues: ‘and cost

‘of revenues in the Company’s consolidated statements of

operations to the Company's underlying accounting analysis -
obtained from management, and (2) on a test basis, compar-
ing the amounts comprising the service revenues and cost of
revenues obtained from management to independent snp-

. porting documentation, and (3) testing the mathematical

accuracy of the underlying‘analysis. In our opinion, such

reclassifications have been properly applied.

As described in Note 8, the Company realigned:its

'segments for financial reporting purposes in 2003, As a

result, the Company has reclassified its previously reported
segments to-conform to the reahgnment Our audit proce-

‘dures with respect to the 2001 segment drsclosures in Note 8

included (1) comparing the reclassified segment amounts to
the Company’s underlying accounting analysis obtained

_from m’anagement, and (2) testing the mathematical accura-

cy of the underlying analysis. In our opinion, such reclassi-

fications to the 2001 financial statements have been proper- -

ly applied. However, we were not engaged to audit, review,
or. apply any proceduires to the 2001 financial statements of
the Company other than with respect to the audit procedures
described in each of the two preceding paragraphs and-our

_procedures-with respect to the reclassifications described in

this paragraph and, accordingly, we do not express any opin-

.. lon or.any form of -assurance on the 2001 financial state-

ments taken as a whole. -

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP-

Boston, Massachusetts
March 15, 2004




MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY
- - AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

"In Abril 2003, we issued 88,339' shares of our unfegistered

common stock to Pricing Analytics; Inc. as partial prepay-

ment of reseller fees in the amount of $75,000 owed under a

value added reseller agreement with that company. These
shares were issued pursuant to an exemption from the

‘Securitiés Act registration requirements set forth in Rule 506
‘under the Securities Act and, in the alternative, under Section
4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933. The shares were repur-
“chased by the Company for cash in July 2003.. v

' ' Our common stock has traded on the Nasdag
National Market under the symbol "IMNY" émce our initial
public offering on July 13, 2000. - The following table sets

forth the high and low closing sales prices per share for our
“common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market o
, for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fis- “
cal years. As of March 8, 2004, there were 246 holders of

record of our common stock

Price Range of
Common Stock

" Three Months Ended High Low

December 31, 2003 : %114 $0.82 -
September 30, 2003 ' 1.68 0.98
June 30, 2003 ) 172 0.68
March 31, 2003 , 1.57 0.73
December 31, 2002 287 . 1.08
‘September 30, 2002 ‘ 3.11 1.83
June 30, 2002 - 5.60 246

~March 31,2002 ' 936 4.96

I- -many has never paid dividends and does not

: ant1c1pate paying dividends in the foreseeable future..




' SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY FINANGIAL DATA-

The following table presents quarterly finanicial data for each of the elght quarters in the two-year perlod ended.

‘ December 31,2003. The information for each-of these quarters is unaudited, but has been prepared on the same basis as the .
‘ audrted financial statements appeanng elsewhere in thrs report '

(in th'otx‘sands,exceptper share'd:nta) . R N THREE MONTHS ENDED
S “March 31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec..39,  March 31, June30, Sept:30, Dec. 31,
: : e 02002 2002 2002 2002 - - 2003 - 2003 2003  .2003
Total net révenues - T 7815015 . $14,553. $13.496 $11,682 . $11,099 $10238  $7.283 $10,792
Gross profit 11468 10442 10006 8405 7394 6297 3172 6,689
Net loss ‘ (1,810) . (2935) (4,169) (18,379} (6,318) (22091)® (6,626) (4,458)
+ ., Net loss per share ' S N : o ‘ .
basic and diluted S 005 (007 (0.10) (048 - (0.16) (055  (0.16)  {0.41) .

(a) Amounts include rmpau'ment charges totahng $13 3 million and $16.8 m11110n for the quarters ended December 31, 2002

and June 30, 2003 respectrvely
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